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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1.   Financial Statements (Unaudited).
iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In Thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31, June 30, 
2022 2022

(Unaudited) (See Note 2)
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,696 $ 22,676
Investments in debt securities  5,929  10,845
Accounts receivable - trade  970  1,000
Settlement receivable - current portion 5,100 5,100
Convertible promissory note receivable and accrued interest 1,669 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  414  1,549
Current assets held for sale 20,457 3,900

Total Current Assets  38,235  45,070
  

Restricted cash 253 5,996
Convertible promissory note receivable and accrued interest — 1,631
Finance lease right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization  746  —
Operating lease right-of-use asset 2,873 3,068
Fixed assets, net of accumulated depreciation  4,245  1,373
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 5,398 4,851
Security deposits 50 29
Prepaid expenses - noncurrent — 74
Noncurrent assets held for sale — 37,314

Total Assets $ 51,800 $ 99,406
  

Liabilities and Equity   
Current liabilities:   

Accounts payable $ 4,002 $ 4,264
Accrued expenses  5,001  3,764
Finance lease obligations - current portion 259 —
Operating lease obligation - current portion 315 91
Equipment financing payable - current portion 152 —
Term note payable - net of deferred financing costs 16,011 22,161
Contract liabilities 88 100
Current liabilities related to assets held for sale  1,947  56

Total Current Liabilities  27,775  30,436
  

Finance lease obligations - net of current portion 490 —
Operating lease obligation - net of current portion 3,324 3,514
Equipment financing payable - net of current portion 323 —
Accrued expenses - noncurrent 1,065 —
Noncurrent liabilities related to assets held for sale — 1,971

  
Total Liabilities  32,977  35,921

  
Equity   

iBio, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity:   
Series 2022 Convertible Preferred Stock – $0.001 par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 0 and 1,000 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, respectively  —  —
Common stock - $0.001 par value; 275,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022; 12,368,287 and 8,727,158 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2022
and June 30, 2022, respectively  12  9
Additional paid-in capital  294,591  287,619
Accumulated other comprehensive loss  (167)  (213)
Accumulated deficit (275,613) (223,930)

Total iBio, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity  18,823  63,485
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 51,800 $ 99,406

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(Unaudited; in Thousands, except per share amounts)

    Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

    2022     2021 2022     2021

Revenues $ — $ — $ — $ 84
    

Operating expenses:     
Research and development  2,779 1,859  5,327  2,993
General and administrative  7,794 5,372  12,882  9,547

Total operating expenses  10,573  7,231  18,209  12,540
    

Operating loss  (10,573)  (7,231)  (18,209)  (12,456)
    

Other income (expense):     
Interest expense (31) — (31) —
Interest income  41 35 140 71
Royalty income  — 5 — 5

Total other income (expense)  10  40  109  76
    

Consolidated net loss from continuing operations  (10,563)  (7,191)  (18,100)  (12,380)
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest  —  —  —  1

Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. from continuing operations  (10,563)  (7,191)  (18,100)  (12,379)

Preferred stock dividends - iBio CDMO Tracking Stock  —  (22)  —  (88)
Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders from continuing operations (10,563) (7,213) (18,100) (12,467)

Loss from discontinued operations (22,990) (4,729) (33,583) (8,480)
    

Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders $ (33,553) $ (11,942) $ (51,683) $ (20,947)

Comprehensive loss:     
Consolidated net loss $ (33,553) $ (11,920) $ (51,683) $ (20,860)
Other comprehensive loss - unrealized gain (loss) on debt securities  56  (27)  46  (28)

    
Comprehensive loss $ (33,497) $ (11,947) $ (51,637) $ (20,888)

    
Loss per common share attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders - basic and diluted - continuing operations $ (1.08) $ (0.83) $ (1.94) $ (1.43)

Loss per common share attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders - basic and diluted - discontinued operations $ (2.34) $ (0.54) $ (3.60) $ (0.97)

Loss per common share attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders - basic and diluted - total $ (3.42) $ (1.37) $ (5.54) $ (2.40)
    

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted  9,807  8,715  9,324  8,715

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Equity

(Unaudited; in thousands)

Six Months Ended December 31, 2022

Accumulated
Additional Other

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated
 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Capital  Loss  Deficit  Total

Balance as of July 1, 2022 1 $ — 8,727 $ 9 $ 287,619 $ (213) $ (223,930) $ 63,485

Capital raise — — 176 — 1,151 — — 1,151
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock (1)  —   —     —     —     —     —     —
Common stock issued - RubrYc transaction — — 102 — 650 — — 650
Vesting of RSUs — — 1 — — — — —
Share-based compensation — — — — 1,222 — — 1,222
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale debt securities — — —  —  —  (10)  —  (10)
Net loss — — —  —  —  —  (18,130)  (18,130)

Balance as of September 30, 2022 — $ — 9,006 $ 9 $ 290,642 $ (223) $ (242,060) $ 48,368

Capital raise — — 3,366  3  3,497  —  —  3,500
Cost to raise capital — — — — (636) — — (636)
Payment for fractional shares after reverse stock split — — (8) — (39) — — (39)
Vesting of RSUs — — 4 — — — — —
Share-based compensation — — —  —  1,127  —  —  1,127
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale debt securities — — — — — 56 — 56
Net loss — — — — — — (33,553) (33,553)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 — $ — 12,368 $ 12 $ 294,591 $ (167) $ (275,613) $ 18,823

Six Months Ended December 31, 2021

Accumulated
Additional Other

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Noncontrolling 
 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Capital  Loss  Deficit  Interest  Total

Balance as of July 1, 2021 — $ — 8,715 $ 9 $ 282,266 $ (63) $ (173,627) $ (17) $ 108,568

Exercise of stock options — — 3 — 77 — — — 77
Share-based compensation   —   — —     —     821     —     —     —     821
Unrealized loss on debt securities — — — — — (1) — — (1)
Net loss — — —  —  —  —  (8,939)  (1)  (8,940)

Balance as of September 30, 2021   —   $ — 8,718   $ 9   $ 283,164   $ (64)  $ (182,566)  $ (18)  $ 100,525

Vesting of RSUs — — 4  —  —  —  —  —  —
Warrant issued for Transaction — — — — 967 — — — 967
Acquisition of remaining portion of iBio
CDMO — — —  —  (68)  —  —  18  (50)
Share-based compensation — — — — 1,103 — — — 1,103
Unrealized loss on debt securities — — — — — (27) — — (27)
Net loss — — —  —  —  —  (11,920)  —  (11,920)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 — $ — 8,722 $ 9 $ 285,166 $ (91) $ (194,486) $ — $ 90,598

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited; in Thousands)
    Six Months Ended

December 31, 
    2022     2021

Cash flows from operating activities:
Consolidated net loss $ (51,683) $ (20,860)
Adjustments to reconcile consolidated net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   

Share-based compensation  2,349  1,924
Amortization of intangible assets  116  211
Amortization of finance lease right-of-use assets 88 563
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets 201 246
Depreciation of fixed assets  388  823
Accrued interest receivable on convertible promissory note receivable (38) (38)
Amortization of premiums on debt securities 62 195
Amortization of deferred financing costs 123 —
Inventory reserve 4,933 —
Impairment of fixed assets 17,649 —
Impairment of intangible assets 565 —
Gain on disposition of finance lease ROU assets (5) —
Forgiveness of note payable and accrued interest - SBA loan — (607)
Settlement of revenue contract — (84)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

Accounts receivable – trade  31  3
Inventory  (1,058)  (1,959)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  1,134  (971)
Prepaid expenses - noncurrent 74 (811)
Security deposit  (21)  (17)
Accounts payable  1,178  872
Accrued expenses  1,237  522
Accrued expenses - noncurrent 1,065 —
Operating lease obligations  30  (11)
Contract liabilities  (12)  (34)
     Net cash used in operating activities  (21,594)  (20,033)

  
Cash flows from investing activities:   

Purchases of debt securities — (4,336)
Redemption of debt securities 4,899 5,511
Purchase of equity security — (1,173)
Additions to intangible assets  — (2,867)
Purchases of fixed assets  (5,433) (3,256)
Payment for RubrYc asset acquisition (692) —

  
     Net cash used in investing activities  (1,226)  (6,121)

  
Cash flows from financing activities:   

Proceeds from sales of common stock 4,015 —
Payments for fractional shares after reverse stock split (39) —
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest — (50)
Proceeds from equipment financing loan 500 —
Payment of equipment financing loan (25) —
Payment of term note payable (6,250) —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 77
Costs to attain term note (22) (322)
Payment of finance lease obligation  (82) (5,810)

     Net cash used in financing activities  (1,903)  (6,105)
  

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  (24,723)  (32,259)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - beginning  28,672  77,404

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash - end $ 3,949 $ 45,145

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Unaudited; in Thousands)

    Six Months Ended
December 31, 

    2022     2021
Schedule of non-cash activities:   

Unpaid fixed assets included in accounts payable $ 329 $ 404

Fixed assets included in accounts payable in prior period, paid in current period $ 1,769 $ 791

Increase in finance lease ROU assets for new leases $ 814 $ —

Increase in finance lease obligation for new leases $ 814 $ —

RubrYc asset acquisition by issuance of common stock $ 650 $ —

Costs to raise capital paid directly from gross proceeds $ 636 $ —

Termination of finance ROU assets including issuance of warrant $ — $ 25,386
Note payable to acquire Facility $ — $ 22,375
Increase in operating lease ROU assets for new lease - net of lease incentive $ — $ 5,570
Unpaid portion of RubrYc transaction $ — $ 2,500
Settlement of revenue contract $ — $ 580
Issuance of warrant for final finance lease obligation payment $ — $ 217
Lease incentive for construction in progress $ — $ 82
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest $ — $ 18

Unrealized (gain) loss on available-for-sale debt securities $ (46) $ 28
Supplemental cash flow information:   

Cash paid during the period for interest $ 363 $ 612

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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iBio, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

1.   Nature of Business

iBio, Inc. (“we”, “us”, “our”, “iBio”, “iBio, Inc” or the “Company”) is an Artificial Intelligence (“AI”)-driven innovator of precision antibody immunotherapies. The Company has a pipeline of innovative primarily immuno-oncology
antibodies against hard-to-drug targets where we may face reduced competition and with antibodies that may be more selective. The Company plans to use its AI-driven discovery platform to continue adding antibodies against hard-to-
drug targets or to work with partners on AI-driven drug development.

Therapeutics Pipeline

IBIO-101: an anti-CD25 molecule that works by depletion of immunosuppressive T-regulatory cells (“Tregs”) via antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (“ADCC”), without disrupting activation of effector T-cells (“Teffs”) in the
tumor microenvironment. IBIO-101 could potentially be used to treat solid tumors, hairy cell leukemia, relapsed multiple myeloma, lymphoma, or head and neck cancer. IBIO-101 is currently in the Investigational New Drug (“IND”)
enabling stage. We have contracted with a contract research organization (CRO) to assist with the development of the manufacturing process, which includes but not limited to process and cell line development for the production of the
drug substance and drug product. As we continue with the development of the manufacturing process for IBIO-101, as a fast-follower to a competing drug candidate, we have decided to pause the IND enabling studies until our
competitor releases clinical data. Due to the decision to pause the IND enabling studies, we expect the IND filing for IBIO-101 will be delayed from the first half of 2024 to the first half of 2025. This delay will allow us to thoroughly
evaluate the market potential and optimize our financial resources and the development plan for IBIO-101 to maximize its potential for success.

EGFRvIII: binds a tumor-specific mutation of EGFR variant III with an afucosylated antibody for high ADCC. Because of its specificity binding to the tumor-specific mutation, it could potentially reduce toxicity and/or expand the
therapeutic window compared to simple broad EGFR-targeted alternatives. EGFRvIII is constantly “switched on” which can lead to the development of a range of different cancers. An EGFRvIII antibody could potentially be used to
treat glioblastoma, head and neck cancer or non-small cell lung cancer.

CCR8: targets depletion of highly immunosuppressive CCR8+ Tregs in the tumor microenvironment via an ADCC mechanism with selective binding to CCR8 over its closely related cousin, CCR4, to avoid off-target effects. A CCR8
program could potentially be broadly applicable in solid tumors and/or as a prospective combination therapy.

MUC16: a highly expressed target on ovarian cancer cells and an attractive tumor associated target for therapeutic antibodies. However, antibodies targeting MUC16 are prone to tumor resistance via epitope shedding and dysregulated
glycosylation. Epitope-steered antibodies that bind to an epitope that avoids both of these tumor resistance mechanisms could potentially be used to treat MUC16 positive tumors, particularly those tumors that are resistant to other
MUC16 antibodies.
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PD-1 Agonist: selectively binds PD-1 to suppress auto-reactive T-cells without PD-L1/PD-L2 blocking. A PD-1 agonist could potentially be used to treat inflammatory bowel disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, multiple sclerosis or
other inflammatory diseases.

In addition to the programs described above, the Company also has five additional early discovery programs that have the potential to advance into later stages of preclinical development and are designed to tackle hard-to-drug targets.

IBIO-100 and Endostatin E4

Our preclinical anti-fibrotic program, IBIO-100, has been undergoing a review process as part of our ongoing effort to prioritize our resources and focus on the most promising opportunities. The IBIO-100 program design is based in
part upon work by Dr. Carol Feghali-Bostwick, Professor of Medicine at the Medical University of South Carolina and Vice-Chair of the Scleroderma Foundation. Her initial work was conducted at the University of Pittsburgh, and we
have licensed the patents relevant for the continued development of the molecule from the university.  After careful consideration, we have decided to terminate all efforts on IBIO-100 anti-fibrotic program and to cancel the license
agreement with the University of Pittsburgh. The lead optimization and manufacturing of IBIO-100 have proven to be very challenging, and we will continue to prioritize our resources to fit into our immune-oncology monoclonal
antibody strategy.

As part of this decision, we are intending to complete the pre-clinical cancer studies we are conducting in collaboration with University of Texas Southwestern using E4 endostatin peptide, which is derived from IBIO-100. After the
pre-clinical studies are completed, we will re-assess whether to further pursue the oncology program and have further discussions with the University of Pittsburgh. This approach allows us to gather valuable data and insights that will
inform our future decisions regarding the potential of E4 endostatin peptide as an oncology program.

AI Drug Discovery Platform

In September 2022, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of RubrYc Therapeutics (for a complete description of the transaction please see Note 6 – Significant Transactions). The AI Drug Discovery platform
technology is designed to be used to discover antibodies that bind to hard-to-target subdominant and conformational epitopes for further development within our existing portfolio or in partnership with outside entities. The RubrYc AI
platform is built upon 3 key technologies.

1. Epitope Targeting Engine: A patented machine-learning platform that combines computational biology and 3D-modeling to identify molecules that mimic hard-to-target binding sites on target proteins, specifically,
subdominant and conformational epitopes. The creation of these small mimics enables the engineering of therapeutic antibody candidates that can selectively bind immune and cancer cells better than ”trial and error” antibody
engineering and screening methods that are traditionally focused on dominant epitopes.

2. RubrYcHuTM Library: An AI-generated human antibody library free of significant sequence liabilities that provides a unique pool of antibodies to screen. The combination of the Epitope Targeting Engine and screening with
the RubrYcHu Library has been shown to reduce the discovery time from ideation to in vivo proof-of-concept (PoC) by up to 4 months. This has the potential to enable more, and better, therapeutic candidates to reach the
clinic, faster.

3. StableHuTM Library: An AI-powered sequence optimization library used to improve antibody performance. Once an antibody has been advanced to the lead optimization stage, StableHu allows precise and rapid optimization
of the antibody binding regions to rapidly move a candidate molecule into the IND-enabling stage.

On January 3, 2023, the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued U.S. Patent No. 11,545,238, entitled “Machine Learning Method for Protein Modelling to Design Engineered Peptides,” which, among other claims, covers a
machine learning model for engineering peptides, including antibody epitope therapeutics.  Subject to any potential patent term extensions, the patent will expire on May 13, 2040.

2.   Basis of Presentation

Interim Financial Statements

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the books and records of the Company and include all normal and recurring adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are
necessary for a fair presentation in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial information and Rule 8-03 of Regulation S-X promulgated by the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Accordingly, these interim financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required for complete annual financial statements. Interim results are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for the full year. Interim unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual
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Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2022, filed with the SEC on October 11, 2022 (the “Annual Report”), from which the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet dated June 30, 2022 was derived.

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated as part of the consolidation. Non-controlling
interest in the consolidated financial statements represented the share of the loss in iBio CDMO, LLC (“iBio CDMO”) for an affiliate of Eastern Capital Limited (“Eastern Capital”) through November 1, 2021, the date the Company
acquired the remaining interest in iBio CDMO.  See Note 6 – Significant Transactions.

Going Concern

The history of significant losses, the negative cash flow from operations, the limited cash resources on hand and the dependence by the Company on its ability to obtain additional financing to fund its operations after the current cash
resources are exhausted raises substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. In an effort to remain a going concern and increase cash reserves, the Company completed a public equity offering, reduced
its work force by approximately 60% (a reduction of approximately 69 positions) in November 2022, and ceased operations of its CDMO thereby reducing annual spend on expenses by approximately 50%. Additionally, the Company
continues its efforts to sell its CDMO assets and facilities that were initiated by management in July 2022. (See Note 3 – Discontinued Operations for more information.) Additional potential options being considered to further increase
liquidity include lowering the Company’s expenses further, focusing product development on a select number of product candidates, the sale or out-licensing of certain product candidates, equipment sales, raising money from capital
markets, grant revenue or collaborations, or a combination thereof.

The Company’s cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments in debt securities of $9.9 million as of December 31, 2022, is not anticipated to be sufficient to support operations through the third quarter of Fiscal 2023 unless
the Company reduces its burn rate further, sells the CDMO assets for amounts above its term note payable, or increases its capital as described above. Regardless of whether the Company is able to reduce its burn rate or sell or out-
license certain assets or parts of the business, the Company will need to raise additional capital in order to fully execute its longer-term business plan. It is the Company’s goal to implement one or more potential options described
above to allow the Company to have a cash runway for at least 12 months from the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in implementing
any of the options that it is evaluating.

The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments related to the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts and classification of liabilities that may result from the possible inability of the Company to
continue as a going concern.

Reverse Stock Split

On September 22, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors approved the implementation of a reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”) at a ratio of one-for-twenty five (1:25) shares of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001
(the “Common Stock”). The Reverse Split was effective as of October 7, 2022. All share and per share amounts of the Common Stock presented have been retroactively adjusted to reflect the Reverse Split. See Note 16 – Stockholders’
Equity for more information.

3.   Discontinued Operations

On November 3, 2022, the Company announced it is seeking to divest its contract development and manufacturing organization (iBio CDMO, LLC) in order to complete its transformation into an antibody discovery and development
company. In conjunction with the divestment, the Company commenced a workforce reduction of approximately 60% of the current Company staffing levels (a reduction of approximately 69 positions). The Company substantially
completed the employee reduction by January 2, 2023. Through the process of seeking to divest its contract development and manufacturing organization, the Company believes it would be able to sell the 130,000-square-foot cGMP
facility location in Bryan, Texas along with certain equipment located at the facility, including but not limited to the furniture, warehouse racks, and modular clean rooms.  The Company incurred pre-tax charges of approximately $1.9
million for the employee reduction which consisted of severance obligations, continuation of salaries and benefits over a 60-day transitional period during which impacted employees remain employed but were not expected to provide
active service, and other customary employee benefit payments in connection with an employee reduction.  At December 31, 2022, $0.8 million remains in accrued expenses as a current liability.  The Company recorded a charge in
discontinued operations for $33.6 million for the six months ended December 31, 2022, of which approximately $17.6 million as the result of a fixed asset impairment charge (see Note 11 – Fixed Assets for more information),
approximately $4.9 million to write down inventory to its net realizable value, approximately $5.8 million of personnel costs including severance and the balance related to operational costs related to winding down the CDMO
business.
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As such, the results of iBio CDMO's operations are reported as discontinued operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022. The Company has retrospectively recast its condensed consolidated statement of
operations for the three and six months ended December 31, 2021 presented. In addition, those assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued operations of the CDMO that the Company intends to sell have been classified as
“held for sale” as of December 31, 2022.  The Company has retrospectively recast its consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2022 for assets and liabilities held for sale.  The Company has chosen not to segregate the cash flows of
iBio CDMO in the consolidated statement of cash flows.  Supplemental disclosures related to discontinued operations for the statements of cash flows has been provided below. Unless noted otherwise, discussion in the Notes to the
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements refers to the Company's continuing operations.

The following table presents a reconciliation of the major financial lines constituting the results of operations for discontinued operations to the loss from discontinued operations presented separately in the condensed consolidated
statements of operations (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Revenues  $ 130 $ 168
Cost of goods sold 22 113
Gross profit 108 55
Operating expenses:
    Research and development 2,462 1,472
    General and administrative 1,980 2,990
    Fixed asset impairments 17,600 —
    Inventory reserve 833 —
Total operating expenses 22,875 4,462

Other income (expenses):
    Interest expense - term note payable (223) (123)
    Interest expense - related party — (206)
    Other — 7
Total other income (expenses)  (223) (322)

Loss from discontinued operations  $ (22,990) $ (4,729)

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Revenues  $ 186 $ 295
Cost of goods sold 27 153
Gross profit 159 142
Operating expenses:
    Research and development 5,524 2,850
    General and administrative 5,236 5,448
    Fixed asset impairments 17,600 —
    Inventory reserve 4,933 —
Total operating expenses 33,293 8,298

Other income (expenses):
    Interest expense - term note payable (448) (123)
    Interest expense - related party — (814)
    Forgiveness of note payable and accrued interest - SBA loan — 607
    Other (1) 6
Total other income (expenses)  (449) (324)

Loss from discontinued operations  $ (33,583) $ (8,480)
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The following table presents net carrying values related to the major classes of assets that were classified as held for sale at December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 (in thousands):
December 31, June 30

2022 2022
Current assets:
    Inventory $ 25 $ 3,900
    Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,947 —
    Property and equipment, net 18,485 —
Total current assets $ 20,457 $ 3,900

Other assets:
    Property and equipment, net $ — $ 35,289
    Finance lease right-of-use assets — 74
    Operating lease right-of-use assets — 1,951
Total other assets $ — $ 37,314

Current liabilities:
    Finance lease obligation $ — $ 46
    Operating lease obligation 1,947 10
Total current liabilities $ 1,947 $ 56

Long-term liabilities:
    Finance lease obligation $ — $ 30
    Operating lease obligation — 1,941
Total long-term liabilities $ — $ 1,971

The following table presents the supplemental disclosures related to discontinued operations for the statements of cash flows (in thousands):

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Depreciation expense  $ 271 $ 823
Amortization of finance lease ROU assets 20 563
Purchase of fixed assets 1,070 25,843
Fixed asset impairments 17,600 —
Inventory reserve 4,933 —
Investing noncash transactions:
    Fixed assets included in accounts payable in prior period, paid in current period 1,542 791
    Unpaid fixed assets included in accounts payable — 404

4.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are described in Note 3 of the Notes to Financial Statements in the Annual Report.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. These estimates include liquidity assertions, the valuation of intellectual property and fixed assets held for sale, legal and
contractual contingencies and share-based compensation. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could
differ from these estimates.
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Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances net of allowances for uncollectible accounts. The Company provides for allowances for uncollectible receivables based on its estimate of uncollectible
amounts considering age, collection history, and other factors considered appropriate. Management’s policy is to write off accounts receivable against the allowance for doubtful accounts when a balance is determined to be
uncollectible. At December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, the Company determined that an allowance for doubtful accounts was not needed.  The Company had accounts receivable of $426,000 at June 30, 2021.

Revenue Recognition

The Company accounts for its revenue recognition under Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Under this standard, the Company recognizes revenue when a customer obtains
control of promised services or goods in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the standard requires disclosure of the nature, amount,
timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts.

The Company’s contract revenue consists primarily of amounts earned under contracts with third-party customers and reimbursed expenses under such contracts. The Company analyzes its agreements to determine whether the
elements can be separated and accounted for individually or as a single unit of accounting. Allocation of revenue to individual elements that qualify for separate accounting is based on the separate selling prices determined for each
component, and total contract consideration is then allocated pro rata across the components of the arrangement. If separate selling prices are not available, the Company will use its best estimate of such selling prices, consistent with
the overall pricing strategy and after consideration of relevant market factors.

In general, the Company applies the following steps when recognizing revenue from contracts with customers: (i) identify the contract, (ii) identify the performance obligations, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the
transaction price to the performance obligations and (v) recognize revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied.  

Recognition of revenue is driven by satisfaction of the performance obligations using one of two methods: revenue is either recognized over time or at a point in time. Contracts containing multiple performance obligations classify
those performance obligations into separate units of accounting either as standalone or combined units of accounting. For those performance obligations treated as a standalone unit of accounting, revenue is generally recognized based
on the method appropriate for each standalone unit. For those performance obligations treated as a combined unit of accounting, revenue is generally recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied, which generally occurs
when control of the goods or services have been transferred to the customer or client or once the client or customer is able to direct the use of those goods and/or services as well as obtaining substantially all of its benefits. As such,
revenue for a combined unit of accounting is generally recognized based on the method appropriate for the last delivered item but due to the specific nature of certain project and contract items, management may determine an
alternative revenue recognition method as appropriate, such as a contract whereby one deliverable in the arrangement clearly comprises the overwhelming majority of the value of the overall combined unit of accounting. Under this
circumstance, management may determine revenue recognition for the combined unit of accounting based on the revenue recognition guidance otherwise applicable to the predominant deliverable.

If a loss on a contract is anticipated, such loss is recognized in its entirety when the loss becomes evident. When the current estimates of the amount of consideration that is expected to be received in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to the customer indicates a loss will be incurred, a provision for the entire loss on the contract is made. At December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, the Company had no contract loss provisions.

Fixed-Fee

Under a fixed-fee contract, the Company charges a fixed agreed upon amount for a deliverable. Fixed-fee contracts have fixed deliverables upon completion of the project. Typically, the Company recognizes revenue for fixed-fee
contracts after projects are completed, delivery is made and title transfers to the customer, and collection is reasonably assured.

Revenue can be recognized either 1) over time or 2) at a point in time.  All revenue was recognized at a point in time for all periods presented.

For the six months ended December 31, 2021, revenue was from the settlement of a revenue contract.  No revenue was recognized for all other periods presented.

Time and Materials

Under a time and materials contract, the Company charges customers an hourly rate plus reimbursement for other project specific costs. The Company recognizes revenue for time and material contracts based on the number of hours
devoted to the project multiplied by the customer’s billing rate plus other project specific costs incurred.
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Contract Assets

A contract asset is an entity’s right to payment for goods and services already transferred to a customer if that right to payment is conditional on something other than the passage of time. Generally, an entity will recognize a contract
asset when it has fulfilled a contract obligation but must perform other obligations before being entitled to payment.

Contract assets consist primarily of the cost of project contract work performed by third parties for which the Company expects to recognize any related revenue at a later date, upon satisfaction of the contract obligations. For the
periods ended December 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and June 30 2021, contract assets were $0.

Contract Liabilities

A contract liability is an entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer at the earlier of (1) when the customer prepays consideration or (2) the time that the customer’s consideration is due for goods and services the
entity will yet provide. Generally, an entity will recognize a contract liability when it receives a prepayment.

Contract liabilities consist primarily of consideration received, usually in the form of payment, on project work to be performed whereby the Company expects to recognize any related revenue at a later date, upon satisfaction of the
contract obligations. At December 31, 2022, June 30, 2022 and June 30 2021, contract liabilities were $88,000, $100,000 and $423,000, respectively. The Company recognized revenue of $38,000 and $48,000 during the three and six
months ended December 31, 2022, respectively, that was included in the contract liabilities balance as of June 30, 2022 and was reported in discontinued operations. The Company recognized revenue of $42,000 and $42,000 during the
three and six months ended December 31, 2021, respectively, that was included in the contract liabilities balance as of June 30, 2021 and was reported in discontinued operations. The Company recognized revenue of $0 and $84,000
during the three and six months ended December 31, 2021 that was included in the contract liabilities balance as of June 30, 2021 and reported as part of continuing operations.

Leases

The Company accounts for leases under the guidance of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842, "Leases" ("ASC 842"). The standard established a right-of-use (“ROU”) model requiring a lessee to record a ROU asset and a
lease liability on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months and classified as either an operating or finance lease. The adoption of ASC 842 had a significant effect on the Company’s balance sheet, resulting in an
increase in non-current assets and both current and non-current liabilities.

In accordance with ASC 842, at the inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances present and the classification of the lease including
whether the contract involves the use of a distinct identified asset, whether the Company obtains the right to substantially all the economic benefit from the use of the asset, and whether the Company has the right to direct the use of the
asset. Leases with a term greater than one year are recognized on the balance sheet as ROU assets, lease liabilities and, if applicable, long-term lease liabilities. The Company has elected not to recognize on the balance sheet leases with
terms of one year or less under practical expedient in paragraph ASC 842-20-25-2. For contracts with lease and non-lease components, the Company has elected not to allocate the contract consideration and to account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

The lease liabilities and the corresponding ROU assets are recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected remaining lease term. The implicit rate within the Company’s existing finance (capital) lease was
determinable and, therefore, used at the adoption date of ASC 842 to determine the present value of lease payments under the finance lease. The implicit rate within the Company’s operating lease was not determinable and, therefore,
the Company used the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date to determine the present value of lease payments. The determination of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate requires judgment. The Company
will determine the incremental borrowing rate for each new lease using its estimated borrowing rate.

An option to extend the lease is considered in connection with determining the ROU asset and lease liability when it is reasonably certain the Company will exercise that option. An option to terminate is considered unless it is
reasonably certain the Company will not exercise the option.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents at December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 consisted of money market accounts.
Restricted cash consisted of collateral for the San Diego operating lease (see Note 15 – Operating Lease Obligations) and a Company purchasing card. The Company’s bank required an additional 5% collateral held above the actual
letters of credit issued. Restricted cash was approximately $0.3 million at  December 31, 2022 and $6.0 million on June 30, 2022. The reduction to the restricted cash occurred because on October 11, 2022, the
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Company, as part of the First Amendment to the Credit Agreement with Woodforest National Bank (“Woodforest”), paid down $5.5M of the term loan and subsequently Woodforest cancelled the irrevocable letter of credit issued by
JPMorgan Chase Bank upon closing of the amendment (for a complete description of the transaction please see Note 6 – Significant Transactions and Note 13 - Debt).

The following table summarizes the components of total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash in the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows (in thousands):

December 31, June 30,
2022 2022

Cash and equivalents  $ 3,696 $ 22,676
Collateral held for letter of credit - term note payable — 5,743
Collateral held for letter of credit - San Diego lease 198 198
Collateral held for Company purchasing card  55 55
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 3,949 $ 28,672

Investments in Debt Securities

Debt investments are classified as available-for-sale. Changes in fair value are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). Fair value is calculated based on publicly available market information. Discounts and/or premiums paid
when the debt securities are acquired are amortized to interest income over the terms of the debt securities. See Note 8 – Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value on the first-in, first-out basis.  Inventory held is related to the CDMO business and has been classified as held for sale.  See Note 3 – Discontinued Operations for
information on inventory reserved reflected in the period ended December 31, 2022.

Research and Development

The Company accounts for research and development costs in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC 730-10, Research and Development (“ASC 730-10”). Under ASC 730-10, all research and
development costs must be charged to expense as incurred. Accordingly, internal research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Third-party research and development costs are expensed when the contracted work has been
performed or as milestone results have been achieved. For the three and six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, research and development expense was reported in both continuing and discontinued operations.

Right-of-Use Assets

Assets held under the terms of finance (capital) leases are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the leases or the economic lives of the assets. Obligations for future lease payments under finance (capital) leases are shown
within liabilities and are analyzed between amounts falling due within and after one year. See Note 9 - Finance Lease ROU Assets and Note 14 - Finance Lease Obligations for additional information.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging from three to 39 years.

The Company monitors fixed assets for impairment indicators throughout the year.  When necessary, charges for impairments of long-lived assets are recorded for the amount by which the fair value is less than the carrying value of
these assets.  Changes in the Company’s business strategy or adverse changes in market conditions could impact impairment analyses and require the recognition of an impairment charge. Although management bases its estimates on
historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.

See Note 11 – Fixed Assets for additional information.
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Intangible Assets

Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of definite life intangible assets and indefinite life intangible assets.

The Company accounts for definite life intangible assets at either their historical cost or allocated purchase price at asset acquisition and records amortization utilizing the straight-line method based upon their estimated useful lives.
Patents are amortized over a period of 10 years and other intellectual property is amortized over periods from 16 to 23 years. The Company reviews the carrying value of its definite life intangible assets for impairment whenever events
or changes in business circumstances indicate the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable.  The carrying value is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use
and eventual disposition of the asset. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds it fair value.

For indefinite life intangible assets, the Company performs an impairment test annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.  The Company determines the
fair value of the asset quarterly or when triggering events are present, based on discounted cash flows and records an impairment loss if book value exceeds fair value.

Evaluating for impairment requires judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, future growth rates and profitability and the expected life over which cash flows will occur. Changes in the Company’s business strategy or
adverse changes in market conditions could impact impairment analyses and require the recognition of an impairment charge. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.

See Note 12 – Intangible Assets for additional information.

Share-based Compensation

The Company recognizes the cost of all share-based payment transactions at fair value. Compensation cost, measured by the fair value of the equity instruments issued, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized in the financial
statements as the respective awards are earned over the performance or service period. The Company uses historical data to estimate forfeiture rates.

The impact that share-based payment awards will have on the Company’s results of operations is a function of the number of shares awarded, the trading price of the Company’s stock at the date of grant or modification, the vesting
schedule and forfeitures. Furthermore, the application of the Black-Scholes option pricing model employs weighted-average assumptions for expected volatility of the Company’s stock, expected term until exercise of the options, the
risk-free interest rate, and dividends, if any, to determine fair value.

Expected volatility is based on historical volatility of the Common Stock; the expected term until exercise represents the weighted-average period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding giving consideration to
vesting schedules and the Company’s historical exercise patterns; and the risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods corresponding with the expected life of the option. The
Company has not paid any dividends since its inception and does not anticipate paying any dividends for the foreseeable future, so the dividend yield is assumed to be zero. In addition, the Company estimates forfeitures at each
reporting period, rather than electing to record the impact of such forfeitures as they occur. See Note 18 - Share-Based Compensation for additional information.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Cash

The Company maintains principally all cash balances in two financial institutions which, at times, may exceed the insured amounts. The exposure to the Company is solely dependent upon daily balances and the strength of the
financial institutions. The Company has not incurred any losses on these accounts. At December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, amounts in excess of insured limits were approximately $3,400,000 and $18,200,000, respectively.

Revenue

During the three months ended December 31, 2022, the Company reported no revenue from continuing operations and generated 100% of its revenue reported in discontinued operations from two customers. During the three months
ended December 31, 2021, the Company reported no revenue from continuing operations and generated 100% of its revenue reported in discontinued operations from four customers.
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During the six months ended December 31, 2022, the Company reported no revenue from continuing operations and generated 100% of its revenue reported in discontinued operations from three customers. During the six months
ended December 31, 2021, the Company reported revenue from continuing operations from one customer related to the settlement of a revenue contract and generated 100% of revenue reported in discontinued operations from four
customers.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”), which requires an entity to assess impairment of its financial
instruments based on its estimate of expected credit losses. Since the issuance of ASU 2016-13, the FASB released several amendments to improve and clarify the implementation guidance. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU
2019-10, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates, which amended the effective date of the various topics. As the Company is a smaller reporting
company, the provisions of ASU 2016-13 and the related amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022 (quarter ending September 30, 2023, for the
Company). Entities are required to apply these changes through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company does not expect the
adoption of ASU 2016-13 to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Management does not believe that any other recently issued, but not yet effective, accounting standard if currently adopted would have a material effect on the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements. Most of the
newer standards issued represent technical corrections to the accounting literature or application to specific industries which have no effect on the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

5.   Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and term note payable in the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets approximated their fair values as of
December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 due to their short-term nature. The carrying value of the convertible promissory note receivable, the term note payable and finance lease obligation approximated fair value as of
December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 as the interest rates related to the financial instruments approximated market value.

The Company accounts for its investments in debt securities at fair value. The following provides a description of the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value under the standard, the types of investments that fall
under each category, and the valuation methodologies used to measure these investments at fair value.

• Level 1 – Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets.

• Level 2 – Inputs to the valuation include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means. If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input
must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.  All debt securities were valued using Level 2 inputs.

• Level 3 – Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement.

The Company’s fixed assets and amortizable intangible assets are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, these assets are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain
circumstances, such as when there is evidence of impairment.

The Company initially marketed the CDMO business and during the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, changed its strategy to selling the stand-alone CDMO assets.  These assets were assessed for impairment and the analysis resulted in
the expected future cash flows from the sale of the property and equipment falling below its current carrying value. The Company utilized a market approach, using independent third-party appraisals, including comparable assets, in
addition to bids received from prospective buyers, to estimate the fair value of the property and equipment. As a result, the carrying value of the building and equipment was reduced to their estimated fair values of $16,350,000 and
$2,100,000, respectively.  In the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, impairment charges were recorded in discontinued operations under general and administrative expense of $6,300,000 and $11,300,000 for the building and machinery
and equipment, respectively.

The following table shows the fair value of the Company's fixed assets included in Current Assets Held For Sale measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis as of December 31, 2022 (amounts in thousands):
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December 31, 2022
Fair Value Hierarchy

Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical Assets

(Level 1)
Significant Other Observable

Inputs (Level 2)
Significant Unobservable Inputs

(Level 3)
Total Fair

Value Total Impairments
Building in Bryan, Texas $ — $ — $ 16,350 $ 16,350 $ 6,300
Machinery & equipment in Bryan, Texas $ — $ — $ 2,100 $ 2,100 $ 11,300

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, the Company re-evaluated its business strategy and reviewed its product portfolio. After such review, the Company identified intellectual property, patent and licenses that will no longer be
utilized and therefore were fully impaired (level 3).  See Note 12 – Intangible Assets for additional information.

6.   Significant Transactions 

Affiliates of Eastern Capital Limited

On November 1, 2021, the Company and its subsidiary, iBio CDMO (“iBio CDMO”, and collectively with the Company, the “Purchaser”) entered into a series of agreements (the “Transaction”) with College Station Investors LLC
(“College Station”), and Bryan Capital Investors LLC (“Bryan Capital” and, collectively with College Station, “Seller”), each affiliates of Eastern Capital Limited (“Eastern,” a former significant stockholder of the Company) described
in more detail below whereby in exchange for a certain cash payment and a warrant the Company:

(i) acquired both the Facility where iBio CDMO at that time and currently conducts business and also the rights as the tenant in the Facility’s ground lease;

(ii) acquired all of the equity owned by one of the affiliates of Eastern in the Company and iBio CDMO; and

(iii) otherwise terminated all agreements between the Company and the affiliates of Eastern.

The Facility is a life sciences building located on land owned by the Board of Regents of the Texas A&M University System (“Texas A&M”) and is designed and equipped for the manufacture of plant-made biopharmaceuticals. iBio
CDMO had held a sublease for the Facility through 2050, subject to extension until 2060 (the “Sublease”) until the purchase of the Facility described below.

The Purchase and Sale Agreement

On November 1, 2021, the Purchaser entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the “Purchase and Sale Agreement”) with the Seller pursuant to which: (i) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest as the tenant in
the Ground Lease Agreement (the “Ground Lease Agreement”) that it entered into with Texas A&M (the “Landlord’’) related to the property at which the Facility is located together with all improvements pertaining thereto (the
“Property”), which previously had been the subject of the Sublease; (ii) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest to any tangible personal property owned by Seller and located on the Property including the Facility;
(iii) the Seller sold to Purchaser all of its rights, title and interest to all licensed, permits and authorization for use of the Property; and (iv) College Station and iBio CDMO terminated the Sublease. The total purchase price for the
Property, the termination of the Sublease and other agreements among the parties, and the equity described below is $28,750,000, which was paid $28,000,000 in cash and by the issuance to Seller of warrants (the “Warrant”) described
below. As part of the transaction, iBio CDMO became the tenant under the Ground Lease Agreement for the Property until 2060 upon exercise of available extensions. The base rent payable under the Ground Lease Agreement, which
was $151,450 for the prior year, is 6.5% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Ground Lease Agreement) of the Property. The Ground Lease Agreement includes various covenants, indemnities, defaults, termination rights, and
other provisions customary for lease transactions of this nature.

As discussed above, iBio CDMO is being accounted for as a discontinued operation.  As such, the assets acquired and/or leased are now classified as assets held for sale on the December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 condensed
consolidated balance sheets.
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The Equity Purchase Agreement

The Company also entered into an Equity Purchase Agreement with Bryan Capital on November 1, 2021 (the “Equity Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company acquired for $50,000 cash, plus the Warrant, the one (1)
share of iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock and the 0.01% interest in iBio CDMO owned by Bryan Capital. As a result, iBio CDMO is now a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

The Credit Agreement

In connection with the Purchase and Sale Agreement, iBio CDMO entered into a Credit Agreement, dated November 1, 2021, with Woodforest pursuant to which Woodforest provided iBio CDMO a $22,375,000 secured term loan to
purchase the Facility, which Term Loan is evidenced by a term note. The term loan was advanced in full on the closing date.

See Note 13 – Debt for further information of the Term Loan.

The Warrant

As part of the consideration for the purchase and sale of the rights set forth above, the Company issued to Bryan Capital a Warrant to purchase 51,583 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $33.25 per share. The Warrant
expires October 10, 2026, is exercisable immediately, provides for a cashless exercise at any time and automatic cashless exercise on the expiration date if on such date the exercise price of the Warrant exceeds its fair market value as
determined in accordance with the terms of the Warrant and adjustments in the case of stock dividends and stock splits. Of the shares issued under the Warrant, 11,583, which were originally valued at $217,255, reflected the final
payment of rent due under the Sublease. The Warrant, as shown on the condensed consolidated statements of equity, was recorded in additional paid-in capital with the corresponding activity included in the basis of the purchase price
allocation of the property acquired.  See Note 16 – Stockholders’ Equity for additional information.

RubrYc

On August 23, 2021, the Company entered into a series of agreements with RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. (“RubrYc”) described in more detail below:

Collaboration and License Agreement

The Company entered into a collaboration and licensing agreement (the “RTX-003 License Agreement”) with RubrYc to further develop RubrYc’s immune-oncology antibodies in its RTX-003 campaign.  Under the terms of the
agreement, the Company is solely responsible for worldwide research and development activities for development of the RTX-003 antibodies for use in pharmaceutical products in all fields.  RubrYc was also entitled to receive
royalties in the mid-single digits on net sales of RTX-003 antibodies, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. The RTX-003 License Agreement was terminated when the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of
RubrYc in September 2022.

Collaboration, Option and License Agreement

The Company entered into an agreement with RubrYc (the “Collaboration, Option and License Agreement”) to collaborate for up to five years to discover and develop novel antibody therapeutics using RubrYc’s artificial intelligence
discovery platform. The Company agreed to pay RubrYc for each Selected Compound as it achieves various milestones in addition to royalties if the Selected Compounds are commercialized.  RubrYc was also entitled to receive tiered
royalties ranging from low- to mid-single digits on net sales of Collaboration Products, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances. Royalties are payable on a country-by-country and collaboration product-by-collaboration
product basis until the latest to occur of: (i) the last-to-expire of specified patent rights in such country; (ii) expiration of marketing or regulatory exclusivity in such country; or (iii) ten (10) years after the first commercial sale of a
product in such country, provided that no biosimilar product has been approved in such country.  The Collaboration, Option and License Agreement was mostly terminated when the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of
RubrYc in September 2022.

Stock Purchase Agreement

In connection with the entry into the Collaboration Agreement and RTX-003 License Agreement, the Company also entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (“Stock Purchase Agreement”) with RubrYc whereby the Company
purchased a total of 2,864,345 shares of RubrYc’s Series A-2 preferred stock (“Series A-2 Preferred”) for $7,500,000.

The Company accounted for the agreements as an asset purchase and allocated the purchase price of $7,500,000 as follows:
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Preferred stock  $ 1,760,000
Intangible assets 4,300,000
Prepaid expenses  1,440,000

 $ 7,500,000

RubrYc ceased its operations, and the Company recorded an impairment of the investment in the amount of $1,760,000 during the year ended June 30, 2022. The amount was recorded in the condensed consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive loss under general and administrative expense. The Company also recorded an impairment of current and non-current prepaid expense of $288,000 and $864,000, respectively, during the year ended June
30, 2022. The amount was recorded in the condensed consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss under research and development expense.

On September 16, 2022, the Company entered an Asset Purchase Agreement with RubrYc pursuant to which it acquired substantially all of the assets of RubrYc.  The Company issued 102,354 shares of the Common Stock with an
approximate market value of $1,000,000 (the “Closing Shares”). Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the shares are subject to an initial lockup period and the estimated fair value was calculated as $650,000. The Company also
agreed to make potential additional payments of up to $5,000,000 upon the achievement of specified developmental milestones on or before the fifth anniversary of the closing date, payable in cash or shares of the Common Stock, at
the Company’s option. In addition, the Company had advanced RubrYc $484,000 to support their operation costs during the negotiation period and incurred transaction costs totaling $208,000, which were also capitalized as part of the
assets acquired.  The assets acquired include an AI drug discovery platform, all rights with no future milestone payments or royalty obligations, to IBIO-101, in addition to CCR8, EGFRvIII, MUC16 and one additional immuno-
oncology candidate plus a partnership-ready PD-1 agonist. The Purchase Agreement contained representations, warranties and covenants of RubrYc and the Company.  The acquisition closed on September 19, 2022 after receipt of
approval of the NYSE American.

The Company accounted for the agreements as an asset purchase and allocated the purchase price of approximately $1,342,000 as follows:

Intangible assets  $ 1,228,000
Fixed assets  114,000

 $ 1,342,000

In addition, the Company assumed three equipment leases that were accounted for as finance leases totaling approximately $814,000.  See Note 9 – Finance Lease ROU Assets and Note 14 – Finance Lease Obligations.

Former CEO Departure

On December 1, 2022, Mr. Thomas F. Isett, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the Company and a member of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), and the Company agreed for Mr. Isett to resign as a member of the Board
and relinquish his duties, rights and obligations as the CEO of the Company, effective immediately.

Separation Agreement and General Release

In connection with Mr. Isett’s resignation, the Company entered into a separation agreement and general release with Mr. Isett effective December 1, 2022 (the “Agreement”).  Pursuant to the Agreement, Mr. Isett resigned as CEO of
the Company effective December 1, 2022, and will remain an employee of the Company until December 31, 2022, on which date his employment with the Company will automatically terminate.  Following Mr. Isett’s termination of
employment with the Company, pursuant to the Agreement, Mr. Isett will receive the severance benefits set forth in his employment agreement, as previously disclosed by the Company, including (i) an amount equal to his current base
salary in equal bi-monthly installments for twenty-four (24) months; (ii) an amount equal to a pro rata share of his target bonus for the current fiscal year; (iii) an amount equal to the target bonus in equal bi-monthly installments for the
twenty-four (24) month severance period and (iv) provided that he elects continuation coverage for health insurance under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985 (“COBRA”), the Company will pay the full cost
of this benefit for up to eighteen (18) months, or if he has not obtained alternative employer-provided health coverage by the end of the eighteen (18) month COBRA subsidy period, the Company will provide him with a lump-sum
cash payment equal to six (6) times the monthly amount paid by the Company for the COBRA subsidy.  The Agreement includes a general release of claims by Mr. Isett.  The Company accrued approximately $2.13 million to general
and administrative expenses for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022.  Half of the related liability is recorded in accrued expense and the other half is recorded in accrued expenses - noncurrent at December 31, 2022.
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7.   Convertible Promissory Note Receivable

On October 1, 2020, the Company entered into a master services agreement with Safi Biosolutions, Inc. (“Safi”). In addition, the Company invested $1.5 million in Safi in the form of a convertible promissory note (the "Note"). The
Note bears interest at the rate of 5% per annum and is convertible into shares of Safi’s common stock (as defined). Principal and accrued interest mature on October 1, 2023.  For both of the three months ended December 31, 2022 and
2021, interest income amounted to $19,000. For both of the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, interest income amounted to $38,000. As of December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, the Note balance and accrued interest
totaled $1,669,000 and $1,631,000, respectively.

8.   Investments in Debt Securities

Investments in debt securities consist of AA and A rated corporate bonds bearing interest at rates from 0.35% to 4.7% with maturities from February 2023 to February 2024. The components of investments in debt securities are as
follows (in thousands):

December 31, June 30,
2022 2022

Adjusted cost  $ 6,067 $ 11,029
Gross unrealized losses  (138) (184)
Fair value  $ 5,929 $ 10,845

The fair value of available-for-sale debt securities, by contractual maturity, was as follows (in thousands):

December 31, June 30
Fiscal period ending:  2022 2022
2023  $ 3,667 $ 8,054
2024 2,262 2,791

 $ 5,929 $ 10,845

Amortization of premiums paid on the debt securities amounted to $26,000 and $93,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $62,000 and $195,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2022
and 2021, respectively.

9.   Finance Lease ROU Assets

As discussed above, the Company assumed three equipment leases as part of the RubrYc asset acquisition.  In addition, the Company leased a mobile office trailer which is classified as part as assets held for sale.  The lease was
terminated in December 2022.

See Note 14 – Finance Lease Obligation for more details of the terms of the leases.

The following table summarizes by category the gross carrying value and accumulated amortization of finance lease ROU (in thousands):

    December 31,     June 30, 
2022 2022

ROU - Equipment $ 814 $ —
Accumulated amortization  (68)  —
Net finance lease ROU $ 746 $ —

Amortization of finance lease ROU assets was approximately $55,000 and $0 for three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $68,000 and $0 for the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.
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10.   Operating Lease ROU Assets

San Diego, California

On September 10, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for approximately 11,383 square feet of space in San Diego, California.  Based on the terms of the lease payments, the Company recorded an operating lease ROU asset of
$3,603,000.  The net carrying amount of this ROU operating lease asset was $2,873,000 and $3,068,000 at December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022, respectively.

Bryan, Texas

On November 1, 2021, as discussed above, iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and became the tenant under the ground lease for the Property upon which the Facility is located. Based on the terms of the lease payments, the Company
recorded an operating lease ROU asset of $1,967,000. The net amount of this ROU operating lease asset is included in assets held for sale.
   
See Note 15 - Operating Lease Obligation for additional information.

11.   Fixed Assets

The following table summarizes by category the gross carrying value and accumulated depreciation of fixed assets (in thousands):

    December 31,     June 30, 
2022 2022

Building and improvements $ 695 $ —
Machinery and equipment  3,450  —
Office equipment and software 199 —
Construction in progress  16  1,373

$ 4,360 $ 1,373
Accumulated depreciation (115) —
Net fixed assets $ 4,245 $ 1,373

Depreciation expense reported in continuing operations was approximately $115,000 for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022 and $0 for both the three and six months ended December 31, 2021.

Fixed assets held for sale at December 31, 2022 and June 30, 2022 in the amount of $18,485,000 and $35,289,000, respectively, are included in assets held for sale.  The depreciation expense for the three months ended December 31,
2021 and the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is classified as part of loss from discontinued operations.

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, the Company re-evaluated its business strategy and reviewed its product portfolio. After such review, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $17.6 million for the three
and six months ended December 31, 2022, respectively. See Note 5 - Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement for more information.
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12.   Intangible Assets

The Company has two categories of intangible assets – intellectual property and patents. Intellectual property consists of all technology, know-how, data, and protocols for producing targeted proteins in plants and related to any
products and product formulations for pharmaceutical uses and for other applications. Intellectual property includes, but is not limited to, certain technology for the development and manufacture of novel vaccines and therapeutics for
humans and certain veterinary applications acquired in December 2003 from Fraunhofer USA Inc., acting through its Center for Molecular Biotechnology (“Fraunhofer”), pursuant to a Technology Transfer Agreement, as amended (the
“TTA”). The Company designates such technology further developed and acquired from Fraunhofer as iBioLaunchTM or LicKMTM or FastPharming Technology. The value on the Company’s books attributed to patents owned or
controlled by the Company is based only on payments for services and fees related to the protection of the Company’s patent portfolio. The intellectual property also includes certain trademarks.

On August 23, 2021, the Company entered into a series of agreements with RubrYc described in more detail above (see Note 6 – Significant Transactions) whereby in exchange for a $7.5 million investment in RubrYc, the Company
acquired a worldwide exclusive license to certain antibodies that RubrYc develops under what it calls its RTX-003 campaign, which are promising immuno-oncology antibodies that bind to the CD25 protein without interfering with
the IL-2 signaling pathway thereby potentially depleting T-regulatory (Tregs) cells while enhancing T effector (Teffs) cells and encouraging the immune system to attack cancer cells. The Company accounted for this license as an
indefinite-lived intangible asset until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development efforts.  In addition, the Company also received preferred shares and an option for future collaboration licenses.

On September 16, 2022, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement with RubrYc described in more detail above (see Note 6 – Significant Transactions) pursuant to which it acquired substantially all of the assets of
RubrYc.  The assets acquired include an AI drug discovery platform, all rights with no future milestone payments or royalty obligations, to IBIO-101, in addition to CCR8, EGFRvIII, MUC16, and one additional immuno-oncology
candidate, plus a partnership-ready PD-1 agonist.

In January 2014, the Company entered into a license agreement with the University of Pittsburgh whereby the Company acquired exclusive worldwide rights to certain issued and pending patents covering specific candidate products
for the treatment of fibrosis (the "Licensed Technology") which license agreement was amended in August 2016 and again in December 2020 and February 2022. The license agreement provides for payment by the Company of a
license issue fee, annual license maintenance fees, reimbursement of prior patent costs incurred by the university, payment of a milestone payment upon regulatory approval for sale of a first product, and annual royalties on product
sales. In addition, the Company has agreed to meet certain diligence milestones related to product development benchmarks. As part of its commitment to the diligence milestones, the Company successfully commenced production of a
plant-made peptide comprising the Licensed Technology before March 31, 2014. The next milestone – filing an Investigational New Drug Application with the FDA or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed Technology ("IND") –
initially was required to be met by December 1, 2015, and on November 2, 2020, was extended to be required to be met by December 31, 2021 and on February 8, 2022, was further extended to December 31, 2023. In addition, the
amounts of the annual license maintenance fee and payment upon completion of various regulatory milestones were amended. On February 14, 2023, the Company provided notification to the University of Pittsburgh terminating the
license agreement. Accordingly, the Company recorded a full impairment of the related intangible asset associated with IBIO-100 in the amount of $25,000.

See Note 4 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for more information.

The following table reflects changes in the carrying amount of intangible assets (in thousands):

    June 30,                 December 31,
2022 Amortization Additions Impairments 2022

Intellectual property – gross carrying value $ 3,100 $ — $ 400 $ (3,100) $ 400
Patents and licenses – gross carrying value  2,846  —  —  (2,846)  —

 5,946  —  400  (5,946)  400
Intellectual property – accumulated amortization  (2,867)  (69)  —  2,931  (5)
Patents and licenses – accumulated amortization  (2,403)  (47)  —  2,450  —

 (5,270)  (116)  —  5,381  (5)
Total definite lived intangible assets $ 676 $ (116) $ 400 $ (565) $ 395

License - indefinite lived $ 4,175 — 828 — $ 5,003

Total net intangible $ 4,851 $ 5,398
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Amortization expense was approximately $49,000 and $123,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense was approximately $116,000 and $211,000 for the six months ended
December 31, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

During the second quarter of Fiscal 2023, the Company re-evaluated its business strategy and reviewed its product portfolio. After such review, the Company identified intellectual property, patent and licenses that will no longer be
utilized and therefore were fully impaired.  The Company recorded an impairment charge in general and administrative expenses of approximately $565,000 for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022, respectively. See
Note 4 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Note 5 – Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurement for more information.

13.   Debt

The Credit Agreement

In connection with the Purchase and Sale Agreement, iBio CDMO entered into a Credit Agreement, dated November 1, 2021, with Woodforest pursuant to which Woodforest provided iBio CDMO a $22,375,000 secured term loan (the
“Term Loan”) to purchase the Facility, which Term Loan is evidenced by a Term Note (the “Term Note”) (for a complete description of the transaction please see Note 6 – Significant Transactions). The Term Loan was advanced in full
on the closing date. The Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 3.25%, with higher interest rates upon an event of default, which interest is payable monthly beginning November 5, 2021. Principal on the Term Loan was originally
payable on November 1, 2023, subject to early termination upon events of default. The Term Loan provides that it may be prepaid by iBio CDMO at any time and provides for mandatory prepayment upon certain circumstances.

On October 11, 2022, the Company and Woodforest amended the Credit Agreement to: (i) include a payment of $5,500,000 of the outstanding principal balance owed under the Credit Agreement on the date of the amendment, (ii)
include a payment of $5,100,000 of the outstanding principal balance owed under the Credit Agreement within two (2) business days upon our receipt of such amount owed to us by Fraunhofer as part of our legal settlement with them
(see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information), (iii) include principal payments of $250,000 per month in debt amortization for a 6 month period commencing the date of the amendment through March 2023, (iv) include
an amendment fee of $22,375 and all costs and expenses, (v) require delivery of a report detailing cash flow expenditures every two (2) weeks for the period prior to the delivery of the last report and a monthly 12-month forecast, (vi)
reduce the liquidity covenant (the “Liquidity Covenant”) in the Guaranty (as defined in the Credit Agreement) from $10 million to $7.5 million with the ability to lower the liquidity covenant to $5.0 million upon the occurrence of a
specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, and (vii) change the annual filing requirement solely for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, such that the filing is acceptable with or without a “going concern” designation.  In addition,
Woodforest cancelled the irrevocable letter of credit issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank upon closing of the amendment.

In January 2023, the Company’s unrestricted cash decreased below the required $7,500,000, which created an event of default under the Credit Agreement and Guaranty as a result of not complying with the Liquidity Covenant. As a
result, on February 9, 2023, we and Woodforest amended the Credit Agreement to: (i) waive any current or prior default of the Liquidity Covenant until a period specified in such amendment which is dependent upon the occurrence of
a specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, (ii) in addition to our unrestricted cash, until such period dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, we can account for all amounts owed to us by
Fraunhofer as part of our legal settlement with them (see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information) in determining whether we are in compliance with the Liquidity Covenant, (iii) permit us to sell certain equipment
located at the Facility, whereby forty percent (40%) of the net proceeds will be paid to Woodforest within ten (10) days following the end of the month of when the sales occurred, and (iv) remove any affirmative obligation on the part
of the iBio CDMO to continue conducting its primary business. If we fail to meet the specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, we could be in default of the Credit Agreement.

At December 31, 2022, the balance was $16,011,000 which consisted of the Term note of $16,125,000, net of approximately $114,000 of deferred finance costs.  At June 30, 2022, the balance was $22,161,000 which consisted of the
Term Note of $22,375,000, net of approximately $214,000 of deferred finance costs.

Equipment Financing

On October 12, 2022, the Company entered into an equipment financing master lease agreement and a lease supplement whereby $500,000 was borrowed over 36 months at an imputed interest rate of 10.62% and securitized by certain
assets purchased for the San Diego research site.  The financing is payable in monthly installments of $16,230 through October 2025.  At December 31, 2022, the balance owed under the financing was $474,755.  Interest incurred
under the financing for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022 totaled approximately $7,200.
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Future minimum payments under the finance lease obligation are due as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal period ending on December 31:     Principal     Interest     Total
2023 $ 259 $ 60 $ 319
2024 285 34 319
2025  205  8  213

         
Total minimum equipment financing payments  749 $ 102 $ 851
Less: current portion  (259)       
Long-term portion of minimum equipment financing obligation $ 490       

Note Payable – PPP Loan

On April 16, 2020, the Company received $600,000 related to its filing under the Paycheck Protection Program and Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act"). The Company elected to treat the SBA
Loans as debt under ASC 470, “Debt”.

On July 21, 2021, iBio was granted forgiveness in repaying the loan.  In accordance with ASC 405-20-40, “Liabilities - Extinguishments of Liabilities – Derecognition”, the Company derecognized the liability and accrued interest of
approximately $7,000 in the first quarter of Fiscal 2022.  The forgiveness is included in loss from discontinued operations (see Note 3 – Discontinued Operations).

14.   Finance Lease Obligation

Sublease

As discussed above, until November 1, 2021, iBio CDMO leased the Facility as well as certain equipment from College Station under the Sublease.

The Sublease was terminated on November 1, 2021, when iBio CDMO acquired the Facility and became the tenant under the ground lease for the property upon which the Facility is located.  See Note 15 – Operating Lease Obligations
for additional information related to the ground lease.

General and administrative expenses related to College Station, including rent related to the increases in CPI and real estate taxes, were approximately $61,000 and $250,000 for the three and six months ended December 31, 2021,
respectively. Interest expense related to College Station was approximately $202,000 and $810,000 for the three and six months ended December 31, 2021, respectively. Such expenses were classified as part of loss from discontinued
operations.

Equipment

As discussed above, the Company assumed three equipment leases that were accounted for as finance leases totaling $813,822 as part of the RubrYc Asset Purchase Agreement.  The monthly rental for the three leases is approximately
$14,000 per month and all three expire on August 1, 2025.

Mobile Office Trailer

Commencing April 1, 2021, the Company leased a mobile office trailer that was located at the Facility in Bryan, Texas, at a monthly rental of $3,819 through March 31, 2024.  In December 2022, the Company terminated the lease and
returned the mobile office trailer. Expenses related to lease prior to its termination are included in discontinued operations.
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The following tables present the components of lease expense and supplemental balance sheet information related to the finance lease obligation (in thousands).
    Three Months Ended Three Months Ended

December 31, December 31, 
2022 2021

Finance lease cost:      
Amortization of ROU assets $ 75 $ —
Interest on lease liabilities  16  —

Total lease cost $ 91 $ —
      

Other information:       
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liabilities:       

Operating cash flows from finance lease $ — $ —
Financing cash flows from finance lease obligations $ 72 $ —

    Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Finance lease cost:      

Amortization of ROU assets $ 88 $ —
Interest on lease liabilities  17  —

Total lease cost $ 105 $ —
      

Other information:       
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liabilities:       

Operating cash flows from finance lease $ — $ —
Financing cash flows from finance lease obligations $ 82 $ —

December 31, June 30,
2022 2022

Finance lease ROU assets $ 746 $ —
Finance lease obligation - current portion $ 259 $ —
Finance lease obligation - noncurrent portion $ 490 $ —
Weighted average remaining lease term - finance lease  2.59 years  — years
Weighted average discount rate - finance lease obligation  9.50 %  — %

Future minimum payments under the finance lease obligation are due as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal period ending on December 31:     Principal     Interest     Total
2023 $ 152 $ 43 $ 195
2024 168 26 194
2025  155  8  163

         
Total minimum lease payments  475 $ 77 $ 552
Less: current portion  (152)       
Long-term portion of minimum lease obligations $ 323       
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15.   Operating Lease Obligation

Texas Ground Lease

As discussed above, as part of the Transaction, iBio CDMO became the tenant under the Ground Lease Agreement for the Property until 2060 upon exercise of available extensions. The base rent payable under the Ground Lease
Agreement, which was $151,450 for the prior year, is 6.5% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Ground Lease Agreement) of the Property. The Ground Lease Agreement includes various covenants, indemnities, defaults,
termination rights, and other provisions customary for lease transactions of this nature.

San Diego

On September 10, 2021, the Company entered into a lease for approximately 11,383 square feet of space in San Diego, California.  Terms of the lease include the following:

● The length of term of the lease is 88 months from the lease commencement date (as defined).
● The lease commencement date was estimated to be on or around January 1, 2022.
● The monthly rent for the first year of the lease is $51,223 and increases approximately 3% per year.
● The lease provides for a base rent abatement for months two through five in the first year of the lease.
● The landlord is providing a tenant improvement allowance of $81,860 to be used for improvements as specified in the lease.
● The Company is responsible for other expenses such as electric, janitorial, etc.
● The Company opened an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $188,844 in favor of the landlord.  The letter of credit expires on October 8, 2023 and renews annually as required.

As discussed above, the lease provides for scheduled increases in base rent and scheduled rent abatements. Rent expense is charged to operations using the straight-line method over the term of the lease which results in rent expense
being charged to operations at inception of the lease in excess of required lease payments. This excess (formerly classified as deferred rent) is shown as a reduction of the operating lease ROU asset in the accompanying balance sheet.
 As the Company has already started making improvements to the facility, the rent expense will be recognized.

The following tables present the components of lease expense and supplemental balance sheet information related to the operating lease obligation (in thousands).

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Operating lease cost: $ 140 $ 177
Total lease cost $ 140 $ 177

      
Other information:       
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liability:       

Operating cash flows from operating lease $ 140 $ 177
Operating cash flows from operating lease obligation $ 48 $ 10

Six Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

2022 2021
Operating lease cost: $ 281 $ 212
Total lease cost $ 281 $ 212

      
Other information:       
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement lease liability:       

Operating cash flows from operating lease $ 281 $ 10
Operating cash flows from operating lease obligation $ 51 $ —
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Future minimum payments under the operating lease obligation are due as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal period ending on December 31:     Principal     Imputed Interest     Total
2023 $ 315 $ 255 $ 570
2024 412 228 640
2025  462  196  658
2026  518  161  679
2027  577  121  698
Thereafter  1,355  106  1,461

         
Total minimum lease payments  3,639 $ 1,067 $ 4,706
Less: current portion  (315)       
Long-term portion of minimum lease obligation $ 3,324       

16.   Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred Stock

The Company’s Board is authorized to issue, at any time, without further stockholder approval, up to 1 million shares of preferred stock. The Board has the authority to fix and determine the voting rights, rights of redemption and other
rights and preferences of preferred stock.

Series 2022 Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series 2022 Preferred”)

On May 9, 2022, the Board of the Company created the Series 2022 Preferred, par value $0.001 per share, out of the Company’s 1 million authorized shares of preferred stock.  Each share of Series 2022 Preferred was convertible at a
ratio of one-for-one (1:1) shares of the Common Stock on a pre-split basis.

The Company issued 1,000 shares of Series 2022 Preferred and received proceeds of $270.  Pursuant to the terms of the preferred stock, the Company’s Board converted the Preferred Stock to 40 shares of Common Stock on July 19,
2022 on a post-split basis.

iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock

On February 23, 2017, the Company entered into an exchange agreement with Bryan Capital pursuant to which the Company acquired substantially all of the interest in iBio CDMO held by Bryan Capital and issued one share of a
newly created Preferred Tracking Stock, in exchange for 29,990,000 units of limited liability company interests of iBio CDMO held by Bryan Capital at an original issue price of $13 million. After giving effect to the transaction, the
Company owned 99.99% and Bryan Capital owned 0.01% of iBio CDMO.

On February 23, 2017, the Board of the Company created the Preferred Tracking Stock out of the Company’s 1 million authorized shares of preferred stock. The Preferred Tracking Stock accrued dividends at the rate of 2% per annum
on the original issue price. Accrued dividends were cumulative and were payable if and when declared by the Board, upon an exchange of the shares of Preferred Tracking Stock and upon a liquidation, winding up or deemed
liquidation (such as a merger) of the Company. No dividends were declared through October 31, 2021.  

On November 1, 2021, iBio purchased the iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock held by Bryan Capital. No iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock remains outstanding. As a result, the iBio CDMO subsidiary and its intellectual property
are now wholly owned by iBio.

Common Stock

The number of authorized shares of the Common Stock is 275 million. In addition, the Company has reserved 1,280,000 shares of Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the grant of new awards under the Company’s 2020 Omnibus
Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”).

Reverse Stock Split

On June 30, 2022, the Company held a special meeting of its stockholders at which the stockholders approved a proposal to effect an amendment to the Company's certificate of incorporation, as amended, to implement a reverse stock
split at a ratio of one-for-twenty five (1:25). On September 22, 2022, the Company's Board approved the implementation of the reverse stock split of the Common Stock.
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As a result of the reverse stock split, every twenty five (25) shares of the s Common Stock either issued and outstanding or held by the Company in its treasury immediately prior to the effective time was, automatically and without any
action on the part of the respective holders thereof, combined and converted into one (1) share of the Common Stock. No fractional shares were issued in connection with the reverse stock split. Stockholders who otherwise were
entitled to receive a fractional share in connection with the reverse stock split instead were eligible to receive a cash payment, which was not material in the aggregate, instead of shares. On October 7, 2022, the Company filed a
Certificate of Amendment of its Certificate of Incorporation, as amended with the Secretary of State of Delaware effecting a one-for-twenty five (1:25) reverse stock split of the shares of the Common Stock, either issued or
outstanding, effective October 7, 2022. The Common Stock began trading on a reverse split adjusted basis when the market opened Monday, October 10, 2022.

Recent issuances of Common Stock include the following:

Cantor Fitzgerald Underwriting

On November 25, 2020, the Company entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor Fitzgerald") to sell shares of Common Stock, from time to time,
through an “at the market offering” program having an aggregate offering price of up to $100,000,000 through which Cantor Fitzgerald would act as sales agent.  Between July 25, 2022, and August 17, 2022, Cantor Fitzgerald sold as
sales agent pursuant to the Sales Agreement 175,973 shares of Common Stock. The Company received net proceeds of approximately $1.2 million.

RubrYc Transaction

On September 19, 2022, the Company issued 102,354 shares valued at approximately $1,000,000 to RubrYc Therapeutics as part of the payment for purchasing the assets of RubrYc Therapeutics.

Wainwright Underwriting

On December 6, 2022, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“Wainwright”). Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company agreed to sell to
Wainwright, in a firm commitment underwritten offering (the “Offering”) (i) 1,530,769 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase up to 1,834,616 shares of Common
Stock, (iii) Series A Common Stock purchase warrants (the “Series A Warrants”) to purchase up to 3,365,385 shares of Common Stock and (iv) Series B Common Stock purchase warrants (the “Series B Warrants” and together with the
Series A Warrants, the “Common Warrants”) to purchase up to 3,365,385 shares of Common Stock.  The offering closed on December 9, 2022.  

Wainwright acted as the sole book-running manager for the Offering. The Company paid Wainwright an underwriting discount equal to 7.0% of the gross proceeds of the offering, and reimbursed Wainwright for the legal fees and
certain expenses of the underwriter.  Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company has granted Wainwright a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 504,807 shares of Common Stock and/or Common Warrants to
purchase up to an additional 1,009,614 shares of Common Stock at the public offering price, less the underwriting discounts and commissions, solely to cover over-allotments. Wainwright elected to purchase 504,807 Series A Warrants
and 504,807 Series B Warrants.

The Company has also agreed to issue to Wainwright, as the representative of the underwriters, warrants (the “Representative’s Warrants”) to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock equal to 6.0% of the aggregate number of
shares of Common Stock and Pre-Funded Warrants being offered in the offering. Wainwright received warrants to purchase up to 201,923 shares of Common Stock.

The Company received net proceeds of approximately $2,864,000 after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other issuance costs.

Vesting of Restricted Stock Units “RSUs”

On August 23, 2022, RSUs for 1,057 shares of Common Stock were vested. On December 1, 2022, RSUs for 4,120 shares of Common Stock were vested.
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Warrants

Byran Capital

As discussed above, the Company issued to Bryan Capital a Warrant to purchase 51,583 shares of the Common Stock of the Company at an exercise price of $33.25 per share. The Warrant expires October 10, 2026, is exercisable
immediately, provides for a cashless exercise at any time and automatic cashless exercise on the expiration date if on such date the exercise price of the Warrant exceeds its fair market value as determined in accordance with the terms
of the Warrant and adjustments in the case of stock dividends and stock splits.

Wainwright

As discussed above, the Company issued various warrants with the following terms:

1. Pre-Funded Warrants – Immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $0.001 per share.  All of the Pre-Funded Warrants were exercised in December 2022.
2. Class A Warrants – Immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $1.04 per share for a term of five years.
3. Class B Warrants – Immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $1.04 per share for a term of two years.
4. Representative Warrants – Immediately exercisable at an exercise price of $1.30 per share for a term of five years.

17.   Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) allocated to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period. For purposes of
calculating diluted earnings (loss) per common share, the denominator includes both the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding during the period and the number of common stock equivalents if the
inclusion of such common stock equivalents is dilutive. Dilutive common stock equivalents potentially include stock options and warrants using the treasury stock method. The following table summarizes the components of the
earnings (loss) per common share calculation (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, December 31, 

    2022     2021 2022     2021
Basic and diluted numerator:

Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. from continuing operations     $ (10,563)    $ (7,191) $ (18,100)    $ (12,379)
Preferred stock dividends – iBio CMO Preferred Tracking Stock  —  (22)  —  (88)

Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders from continuing operations $ (10,563) $ (7,213) $ (18,100) $ (12,467)

Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders from discontinued operations $ (22,990) $ (4,729) $ (33,583) $ (8,480)

Net loss available to iBio, Inc. stockholders - total $ (33,553) $ (11,942) $ (51,683) $ (20,947)

Basic and diluted denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding  9,807  8,715  9,324  8,715
    

Per share amount - continuing operations $ (1.08) $ (0.83) $ (1.94) $ (1.43)
Per share amount - discontinued operations $ (2.34) $ (0.54) $ (3.60) $ (0.97)
Per share amount - total $ (3.42) $ (1.37) $ (5.54) $ (2.40)
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In Fiscal 2023 and Fiscal 2022, the Company incurred net losses which cannot be diluted; therefore, basic and diluted loss per common share is the same. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, shares issuable which could potentially
dilute future earnings were as follows:

December 31, 
    2022     2021

(in thousands)
Stock options  708  598
Restricted stock units     231     31
Warrants  7,994  52
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share  8,933  681

18.   Share-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the components of share-based compensation expense in the condensed consolidated statements of operations (in thousands):
    Three Months Ended

December 31, 
    2022     2021

Research and development $ 15 $ 17
General and administrative  900  943

Total $ 915 $ 960

    Six Months Ended
December 31, 

    2022     2021
Research and development $ 56 $ 31
General and administrative  1,985  1,649

Total $ 2,041 $ 1,680

In addition, share-based compensation expense included in loss from discontinued operations totaled approximately $211,000 and $142,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and $308,000 and
$244,000 for the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Stock Options

iBio, Inc. 2020 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”)

On December 9, 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Plan for employees, officers, directors and external service providers. The total number of shares of Common Stock reserved under the 2020 Plan is 32 million shares of Common
Stock for issuance pursuant to the grant of new awards under the 2020 Plan. The 2020 Plan allows for the award of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, unrestricted stock, cash-based awards,
and dividend equivalent rights. The value of all awards awarded under the 2020 Plan and all other cash compensation paid by the Company to any non-employee director in any calendar year may not exceed $500,000; provided,
however, that such amount shall be $750,000 for the calendar year in which the applicable non-employee director is initially elected or appointed to the Board and $1,500,000 for any non-executive chair of our Board should one be
appointed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the independent members of the Board may make exceptions to such limits in extraordinary circumstances. The term of the 2020 Plan will expire on the tenth anniversary of the date the Plan
is approved by the stockholders.

Vesting of service awards are determined by the Board and stated in the award agreements. In general, vesting occurs ratably on the anniversary of the grant date over the service period, generally three or five years, as determined at
the time of grant. Vesting of performance awards occurs when the performance criteria is satisfied. The Company uses historical data to estimate forfeiture rates.
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Stock options issued

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2023, the Company granted stock option agreements to various employees to purchase 303,869 shares of the Common Stock at exercise prices between $6.75 and $9.50 per share. The options vest 25%
after one year and then in equal quarterly installments over a 36-month period and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

The Company also granted a stock option agreement to a consultant to purchase 4,000 shares of the Common Stock at an exercise price of $6.75 per share. The options vest in equal monthly installments, over a period of twelve
months, starting after the second month and expire on the tenth anniversary of the grant date.

The Company estimated the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions:

    
Weighted average risk-free interest rate 3.21% - 3.61 %  
Dividend yield  0 %  
Volatility  115.52 - 116.93 %  
Expected term (in years)  7  

RSUs

On August 29, 2022, the Company issued RSUs to acquire 6,954 shares of common stock to various employees at a market value of $7.06 per share.  The RSUs vest over a four-year period.  The grant date fair value of the RSUs
totaled approximately $49,000.

On November 10, 2022, as previously disclosed in relation to the Employment Agreement with Mr. Isett, the Company’s former CEO, dated April 30, 2021, the Company granted Mr. Isett RSUs to acquire 200,000 shares of Common
Stock, on a post-split basis.  The RSUs vest over a three-year period commencing April 30, 2021 provided the vesting is subject to the following performance conditions: (i) submission to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
of an Investigational New Drug (IND) application, or alternatively, if the Board approves not to file an IND, (ii) consummation of a disposition of iBio CDMO, LLC, or (iii) out-licensing, with full global rights, any of its
investigational product candidates prior to the submission to the FDA an IND application.  The grant-date fair value of the RSUs totaled approximately $296,000. As of the date of the issuance of this report, the Company believes the
performance conditions will not be met.

On November 11, 2022, the Company granted Mr. Robert Lutz, the Company’s Chief Financial and Business Officer at the time, RSUs to acquire 100,057 shares of the Company’s Common Stock in exchange for Mr. Lutz’ agreement
to continue employment with the Company through July 1, 2023.  The RSUs vest the earlier of: (i) July 1, 2023, or (ii) the successful achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined by the Board. The grant-date fair value of
the RSUs totaled approximately $175,100. Mr. Lutz resigned from the Company and was no longer an employee of the Company effective February 10, 2023 so that the RSUs will not vest.

On November 11, 2022, the Company granted Dr. Martin Brenner, the Company’s Chief Scientific Officer, RSUs to acquire 95,348 shares of the Company’s Common Stock in exchange for Mr. Brenner’s agreement to continue
employment with the Company through July 1, 2023.  The RSUs vest the earlier of: (i) July 1, 2023, or (ii) the successful achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined by the Board. The grant-date fair value of the RSUs
totaled approximately $167,000.

On January 20, 2023, the Board of the Company appointed Dr. Brenner to the position of Interim Chief Executive Officer, effective immediately. Dr. Brenner was granted RSUs to acquire 130,000 shares of the Company’s Common
Stock, which RSUs shall vest pro rata over a twelve-month period, such vesting to terminate if Dr. Brenner is no longer the Company’s Interim Chief Executive Officer. The grant-date fair value of the RSUs totaled approximately
$91,000.

19.   Fraunhofer Settlement

On May 4, 2021, the Company and Fraunhofer USA, Inc. (“FhUSA”) entered into a Confidential Settlement Agreement and Mutual Release (the “Settlement Agreement”) to settle all claims and counterclaims in the litigation
captioned iBio, Inc. v. Fraunhofer USA, Inc. (Case No. 10256-VCF) in Delaware Chancery Court (the “Lawsuit”). The Settlement Agreement, among other things, resolves the Company’s claims to ownership of certain plant-based
technology developed by FhUSA from 2003 through 2014, and sets forth the terms of a license of intellectual property. The Lawsuit was commenced against FhUSA by the Company in March 2015 in the Court of
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Chancery of the State of Delaware and is described in more detail in the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2020. The Settlement Agreement is not an admission of liability or fault of the
parties.

The terms of the Settlement Agreement provide for cash payments to the Company of $28,000,000 as follows: (i) $16,000,000 to be paid no later than May 14, 2021 (which is expected to be paid 100% to cover legal fees and
expenses); (ii) two payments of $5,100,000 payable by March 31, 2022 and 2023 and (iii) as additional consideration for a license agreement, two payments of $900,000 due on March 1, 2022 and 2023. The license provides for a
nonexclusive, nontransferable, worldwide, fully paid-up license to all intellectual property rights in and to certain plant-based technology developed by FhUSA from 2003 through 2014 that were the subject of the Lawsuit. After
payment of the fees and expenses of its attorneys and others retained by the Company, including the litigation funding company, the Company’s estimated aggregate net cash recovery as a result of the Settlement Agreement will be
approximately $10,200,000.  

As of June 30, 2021, the Company held receivables related to the settlement in the amount of $10,200,000. This amount was recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss as settlement income in Fiscal
2021.  During the quarter ended March 31, 2022, the Company received the first payment of $5,100,000.

The Company would recognize the $1.8 million of license revenue when it determined the collection of the license fees was reasonably assured in accordance with ASC 606. On February 9, 2022, the Company received the first
$900,000 payment under the license agreement. As such, the Company determined that the collection of the license fees was reasonably assured, and the Company recognized license revenue related to the license fees and recorded a
receivable for the second payment in the third quarter of 2022.  

As of December 31, 2022, the Company holds a settlement receivable balance of $5,100,000, which has been pledged to Woodforest - see Note 6 - Significant Transactions, related to the settlement and a trade receivable balance of
$900,000 related to the license agreement.

20.   Income Taxes

The Company recorded no income tax expense for the three months ended December 31, 2022 because the estimated annual effective tax rate was zero. As of December 31, 2022, the Company continues to provide a valuation
allowance against its net deferred tax assets since the Company believes it is more likely than not that its deferred tax assets will not be realized.

21.  Commitments and Contingencies

CRO Agreement

On October 10, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with a CRO for cell line development and master cell banking to produce iBio-101 in addition to process development and GMP manufacturing of iBio-101 drug substance
and drug product to support GLP toxicology and Phase 1 clinical studies.  The Company has incurred costs totaling approximately $147,000 through December 31, 2022.  The Company is committed to additional costs totaling
approximately $697,000 as of the date of the filing of this report.

Inflation

Although the Company has not experienced any material adverse effects on our business due to increasing inflation, it has raised operating costs for many businesses and, in the future, could impact demand or pricing of manufacturing
services, foreign exchange rates or employee wages. We are actively monitoring the effects these disruptions and increasing inflation could have on the Company’s operations.

War in Ukraine

On February 24, 2022, Russia launched an invasion of Ukraine which has resulted in increased volatility in various financial markets and across various sectors. The United States and other countries, along with certain international
organizations, have imposed economic sanctions on Russia and certain Russian individuals, banking entities and corporations as a response to the invasion. The extent and duration of the military action, resulting sanctions and future
market disruptions in the region are impossible to predict. Moreover, the ongoing effects of the hostilities and sanctions may not be limited to Russia and Russian companies and may spill over to and negatively impact other regional
and global economic markets of the world, including Europe and the United States.  Presently, the Company does not have any existing Russian suppliers or contractors. While it is difficult to estimate the impact of current or future
sanctions on the Company’s business and financial position, or global supply chains or service provisions that could have an impact on the availability
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or price of goods and services that the Company requires, the Company is not aware of any company-specific risks related to the war in Ukraine at this time.

22.   Employee 401(K) Plan

Commencing January 1, 2018, the Company established the iBio, Inc. 401(K) Plan (the “Plan”). Eligible employees of the Company may participate in the Plan, whereby they may elect to make elective deferral contributions pursuant
to a salary deduction agreement and receive matching contributions upon meeting age and length-of-service requirements. The Company will make a 100% matching contribution that is not in excess of 5% of an eligible employee’s
compensation. In addition, the Company may make qualified non-elective contributions at its discretion. For the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, employer contributions made to the Plan totaled approximately
$86,000 and $29,000, respectively. For the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, employer contributions made to the Plan totaled approximately $190,000 and $62,000, respectively. In addition, employer contributions
included in loss from discontinued operations totaled approximately $90,000 and $36,000 for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and approximately $161,000 and $69,000 for the six months ended
December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

23.   Subsequent Events

On December 23, 2020, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Martin Brenner to serve as the Company’s Chief Scientific Officer, effective as of January 18, 2021. In addition to a base salary of $405,000 for
serving as the Company’s Chief Scientific Officer and a discretionary incentive bonus with a target of 40% of his annual base salary, while serving as Interim Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Brenner will receive a monthly cash stipend of
$7,500.  In addition, as discussed above, on January 20, 2023, the Company granted Dr. Brenner RSUs to acquire 130,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.  Refer to Note 18 – Share-Based Compensation for January 2023
RSU grant.

On January 23, 2023, the Company entered into an offer letter for the Interim Chief Financial Officer (the “Offer Letter”) with Mr. Felipe Duran.  Pursuant to the terms of the Offer Letter, Mr. Duran will serve as the Company’s Interim
Chief Financial Officer, effective as of February 13, 2023. Upon his appointment to the position of  Interim Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Duran’s base salary will be increased from $300,000 to a base salary of $350,000, he will be
eligible for a  discretionary incentive bonus with a target of 40% of his annual base salary and he will be granted a $140,000 special incentive bonus (40% of his fiscal year 2023 annualized salary) in exchange for his agreement to
continue employment with the Company through the earlier of: (a) July 1, 2023, or (b) the successful achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined by the Board minus any retention bonus he is paid during the fiscal year
2023.

Item 2.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following information should be read together with the financial statements and the notes thereto and other information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (this “Report”) and in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2022, as filed with the SEC on October 11, 2022 (the “Annual Report”). Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this Report to “iBio,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our” and
similar terms mean iBio, Inc.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Report contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). For this purpose, any statements contained herein regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, future revenues, projected costs and expenses, prospects, plans and objectives of management, other than
statements of historical facts, are forward-looking statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “may,” “plan,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Such statements reflect our current views with respect to future events. Because these forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, actual
results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements for a number of important reasons, including those discussed in this “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this Report, as well as in the section titled “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report. We cannot guarantee any future results, levels of activity,
performance or achievements. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described in this Report as anticipated,
believed, estimated or expected. The forward-looking statements contained in this Report represent our estimates as of the date of this Report (unless another date is indicated) and should not be relied upon as representing our
expectations as of any other date. While we may elect to update these forward-looking statements, we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so unless otherwise required by securities laws.
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Overview

We are an AI-driven innovator of precision antibody immunotherapies. We have a pipeline of innovative primarily immuno-oncology antibodies against hard-to-drug targets where we may face reduced competition and with antibodies
that may be more selective. We plan to use our AI-driven discovery platform to continue adding antibodies against hard-to-drug targets or to work with partners on AI-driven drug development.

Therapeutics Pipeline

IBIO-101: an anti-CD25 molecule that works by depletion of immunosuppressive T-regulatory cells (“Tregs”) via ADCC, without disrupting activation of effector T-cells (“Teffs”) in the tumor microenvironment. IBIO-101 could
potentially be used to treat solid tumors, hairy cell leukemia, relapsed multiple myeloma, lymphoma, or head and neck cancer. IBIO-101, is currently in the IND enabling stage. We have contracted with a CRO to assist with the
development of the manufacturing process, which includes, but is not limited to, process and cell line development for the production of the drug substance and drug product. As we continue with the development of the manufacturing
process for IBIO-101, as a fast-follower to a competing drug, we have decided to pause the IND-enabling studies until our competitor releases clinical data. Due to the decision to pause the IND-enabling studies, we expect the IND
filing for IBIO-101 will be delayed from the first half of 2024 to the first half of 2025. This delay will allow us to thoroughly evaluate the market potential and optimize our financial resources and the development plan for IBIO-101 to
maximize its potential for success.

EGFRvIII: binds a tumor-specific mutation of EGFR variant III with an afucosylated antibody for high ADCC. Because of its specificity binding to the tumor-specific mutation, it could potentially reduce toxicity and/or expand the
therapeutic window compared to simple broad EGFR-targeted alternatives. EGFRvIII is constantly “switched on” which can lead to the development of a range of different cancers. An EGFRvIII antibody could potentially be used to
treat glioblastoma, head and neck cancer or non-small cell lung cancer.

CCR8: targets depletion of highly immunosuppressive CCR8+ Tregs in the tumor microenvironment via an ADCC mechanism with selective binding to CCR8 over its closely related cousin, CCR4, to avoid off-target effects. A CCR8
program could potentially be broadly applicable in solid tumors and/or as a prospective combination therapy.

MUC16: a highly expressed target on ovarian cancer cells and an attractive tumor associated target for therapeutic antibodies. However, antibodies targeting MUC16 are prone to tumor resistance via epitope shedding and dysregulated
glycosylation. Epitope-steered antibodies that bind to an epitope that avoids both of these tumor resistance mechanisms could potentially be used to treat MUC16 positive tumors, particularly those tumors that are resistant to other
MUC16 antibodies.

PD-1 Agonist: Selectively binds PD-1 to suppress auto-reactive T-cells without PD-L1/PD-L2 blocking. A PD-1 agonist could potentially be used to treat inflammatory bowel disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, multiple sclerosis
or other inflammatory diseases.

In addition to the programs described above, we also have five additional early discovery programs that have the potential to advance into later stages of preclinical development and are designed to tackle hard-to-drug targets.
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IBIO-100 and Endostatin E4

Our preclinical anti-fibrotic program, IBIO-100, has been undergoing a review process as part of our ongoing effort to prioritize our resources and focus on the most promising opportunities. The IBIO-100 program design is based in
part upon work by Dr. Carol Feghali-Bostwick, Professor of Medicine at the Medical University of South Carolina and Vice-Chair of the Scleroderma Foundation. Her initial work was conducted at the University of Pittsburgh, and we
have licensed the patents relevant for the continued development of the molecule from the university.  After careful consideration, we have decided to terminate all efforts on the IBIO-100 anti-fibrotic program and to cancel the license
agreement with the University of Pittsburgh. The lead optimization and manufacturing of IBIO-100 have proven to be very challenging, and we will continue to prioritize our resources to fit into our immune-oncology monoclonal
antibody strategy.

As part of this decision, we are intending to complete the pre-clinical cancer studies we are conducting in collaboration with University of Texas Southwestern using E4 endostatin peptide, which is derived from IBIO-100. After the
pre-clinical studies are completed, we will re-assess whether to further pursue the oncology program and have further discussions with the University of Pittsburgh. This approach allows us to gather valuable data and insights that will
inform our future decisions regarding the potential of E4 endostatin peptide as an oncology program.

AI Drug Discovery Platform

In September 2022, we purchased substantially all of the assets of RubrYc Therapeutics (for a complete description of the transaction please see Note 6 – Significant Transactions). The AI Drug Discovery platform technology is
designed to be used to discover antibodies that bind to hard-to-target subdominant and conformational epitopes for further development within our existing portfolio or in partnership with outside entities. The RubrYc AI platform is
built upon 3 key technologies.

1. Epitope Targeting Engine: A proprietary machine-learning platform that combines computational biology and 3D-modeling to identify molecules that mimic hard-to-target binding sites on target proteins, specifically,
subdominant and conformational epitopes. The creation of these small mimics enables the engineering of therapeutic antibody candidates that can selectively bind immune and cancer cells better than ”trial and error” antibody
engineering and screening methods that are traditionally focused on dominant epitopes.

2. RubrYcHuTM Library: An AI-generated human antibody library free of significant sequence liabilities that provides a unique pool of antibodies to screen. The combination of the Epitope Targeting Engine and screening with
the RubrYcHu Library has been shown to reduce the discovery time from ideation to in vivo proof-of-concept (PoC) by up to 4 months. This has the potential to enable more, and better, therapeutic candidates to reach the
clinic, faster.

3. StableHuTM Library: An AI-powered sequence optimization library used to improve antibody performance. Once an antibody has been advanced to the lead optimization stage, StableHu allows precise and rapid optimization
of the antibody binding regions to rapidly move a candidate molecule into the IND-enabling stage.

On January 3, 2023, the United States Patent and Trademark Office issued U.S. Patent No. 11,545,238, entitled “Machine Learning Method for Protein Modelling to Design Engineered Peptides,” which, among other claims, covers a
machine learning model for engineering peptides, including antibody epitope therapeutics. Subject to any potential patent term extensions, the patent will expire on May 13, 2040.

Recent Developments  

On October 11, 2022, we and Woodforest amended the Credit Agreement that we entered into on November 1, 2021, to: (i) include a payment of $5,500,000 of the outstanding principal balance owed under the Credit Agreement on the
date of the amendment, (ii) include a payment of $5,100,000 of the outstanding principal balance owed under the Credit Agreement within two (2) business days  upon our receipt of such amount owed to us by Fraunhofer as part of our
legal settlement with them (see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information), (iii) include principal payments of $250,000 per month in debt amortization for a 6 month period commencing the date of the amendment through
March 2023, (iv) include an amendment fee of $22,375 and all costs and expenses, (v) require delivery of a report detailing cash flow expenditures every two (2) weeks for the period prior to the delivery of the last report and a monthly
12-month forecast, (vi) reduce the liquidity covenant in the Guaranty (as defined in the Credit Agreement) from $10 million to $7.5 million with the ability to lower the liquidity covenant to $5.0 million upon the occurrence of a
specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, and (vii) change the annual filing requirement solely for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, such that the filing was acceptable with or without a “going concern” designation.  In addition,
Woodforest cancelled the irrevocable letter of credit issued by JPMorgan Chase Bank upon closing of the amendment. If we fail to successfully extend our cash runway via strategic options or other alternatives as described we would
be in violation of the liquidity covenant on December 31, 2022.
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On November 2, 2022, we announced our plans to divest our contract development and manufacturing organization (iBio CDMO, LLC) in order to complete our transformation into an antibody discovery and development company. In
conjunction with the divestment, we have commenced, on October 31, 2022 a workforce reduction of approximately 60% of our current staffing levels (a reduction of 69 positions). We substantially completed the employee reduction
on January 2, 2023. We expect we may be able to complete a transaction in 2023, although there is no assurance as to when, or for how much, we may be able to sell our CDMO assets. We expect to incur pre-tax charges of
approximately $1.7 million for the employee reduction, most of which is expected to be incurred in the second and third quarter of fiscal year 2023. These charges will be substantially settled in cash and almost entirely consist of
severance obligations, continuation of salaries and benefits over a 60-day transitional period during which impacted employees remain employed but are not expected to provide active service, and other customary employee benefit
payments in connection with an employee reduction. The transition to a focused AI-Biotech business is expected to reduce our monthly burn rate by approximately half, with an approximate range of $2.5-3.0 million per month.
Although we expect to decrease burn, our long-term business plan would be to increase R&D and commence clinical trials that could be costly if conducted without a licensing partner.

On November 1, 2022, we announced Mr. Chip Clark was appointed as the Chairman of the Board. On November 2, 2022, we announced we have initiated a search for a new Chief Executive Officer.  On December 1, 2022, we
announced Mr. Thomas F. Isett, the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of iBio, Inc., and a member of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), and the Company, agreed for Mr. Isett to resign as a member of the Board and relinquish his
duties, rights and obligations as an officer and the CEO, effective immediately. In connection with Mr. Isett’s resignation, we entered into a separation agreement and general release with Mr. Isett effective December 1, 2022.

On December 6, 2022, we entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement”) with H.C. Wainwright & Co., LLC (“Wainwright”). Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, we agreed to sell to Wainwright, in a
firm commitment underwritten offering (the “Offering”) (i) 1,530,769 shares of the Company’s Common Stock, (ii) pre-funded warrants (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) to purchase up to 1,834,616 shares of Common Stock, (iii) Series A
Common Stock purchase warrants (the “Series A Warrants”) to purchase up to 3,365,385 shares of Common Stock and (iv) Series B Common Stock purchase warrants (the “Series B Warrants” and together with the Series A Warrants,
the “Common Warrants”) to purchase up to 3,365,385 shares of Common Stock.  The offering closed on December 9, 2022.  

We paid Wainwright an underwriting discount equal to 7.0% of the gross proceeds of the offering, and reimbursed Wainwright for the legal fees and certain expenses of the underwriter.  Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, we
granted Wainwright a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 504,807 shares of Common Stock and/or Common Warrants to purchase up to an additional 1,009,614 shares of Common Stock at the public offering price, less the
underwriting discounts and commissions, solely to cover over-allotments.  Wainwright elected to purchase 504,807 Series A Warrants and 504,807 Series B Warrants.

We also agreed to issue Wainwright warrants (the “Representative’s Warrants”) to purchase a number of shares of Common Stock equal to 6.0% of the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock and Pre-Funded Warrants being
offered in the offering. Wainwright received warrants to purchase up to 201,923 shares of Common Stock.  We received net proceeds of approximately $2,864,000 after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and other
issuance costs.

On January 17, 2023, we announced the resignation of Mr. Robert Lutz, the Chief Financial and Business Officer, effective February 10, 2023. On January 25, 2023, we announced the Board of Directors appointed Dr. Martin Brenner
to the position of Interim Chief Executive Officer, effective January 20, 2023, and Mr. Felipe Duran, to the position of Interim Chief Financial Officer, effective as of February 13, 2023. We are continuing the search for a successor
Chief Executive Officer and as such, Dr. Brenner’s position of Interim Chief Executive Officer will end when the Company appoints a successor.

On February 9, 2023, we and Woodforest entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement and amended the Credit Agreement to: (i) waive any current or prior default of the Liquidity Covenant until a period specified in
such amendment which is dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, (ii) in addition to our unrestricted cash, until such period dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit
Agreement, we can account for all amounts owed to us by Fraunhofer as part of our legal settlement with them (see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information) in determining whether we are in compliance with the
Liquidity Covenant, (iii) permit us to sell certain equipment located at the Facility, whereby forty percent (40%) of the net proceeds will be paid to Woodforest within ten (10) days following the end of the month of when the sales
occurred, and (iv) remove any affirmative obligation on the part of the iBio CDMO to continue conducting its primary business. If we fail to meet the specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, we could be in default of the Credit
Agreement.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The history of significant losses, the negative cash flow from operations, the limited cash resources on hand and the dependence by the Company on its ability to obtain additional financing to fund its operations after the current cash
resources are exhausted raises
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substantial doubt about the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. Our management concluded that our recurring losses from operations and the fact that we have not generated significant revenue or positive cash flows from
operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for the next 12 months after issuance of our financial statements. Our auditors also included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial
statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022 with respect to this uncertainty.

In an effort to remain a going concern and increase cash reserves, we completed a public offering in December 2022, reduced our work force by approximately 60% (a reduction of approximately 69 positions) in November 2022, and
ceased operations of our CDMO thereby reducing annual spend on expenses by approximately 50%. Additionally, the Company continues its efforts to sell its CDMO assets and facilities that were initiated by management in July
2022. (See Note 3 – Discontinued Operations for more information.) Additional potential options being considered to further increase liquidity include lowering our expenses further, focusing product development on a select number
of product candidates, the sale or out-licensing of certain product candidates, sell the CDMO, equipment sales, raising money from capital markets, grant revenue or collaborations, or a combination thereof.

During the first quarter of Fiscal 2023, we completed at-the-market offerings and sold 175,973 shares of Common Stock. We received net proceeds of approximately $1.2 million. During the second quarter of fiscal year 2023, we
completed a public offering and raised gross proceeds of approximately $3.5M selling an aggregate of 3,365,385 shares of its common stock (or pre-funded warrants in lieu thereof), Series A warrants to purchase up to 3,870,192 shares
of common stock and Series B warrants to purchase up to 3,870,192 shares of common stock. (See Note 16 – Stockholder’s Equity for more information.)

Our cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and investments in debt securities of $9.9 million as of December 31, 2022, is not anticipated to be sufficient to support operations through the third quarter of fiscal year 2023, unless we
further reduce our burn rate, sell the CDMO assets or the facility for amounts above the debt on the facility, or increase our capital as described above. Regardless of whether we are able to reduce our burn rate or sell or out-license
certain assets or parts of the business, we will need to raise additional capital in order to fully execute our longer-term business plan. It is our goal to implement one or more potential options described above to allow us to have a cash
runway for at least 12 months from the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. However, there can be no assurance that we will be successful in implementing any of the options that we are evaluating.

Our liquidity and operations could also be impacted by our obligations under the Woodforest Credit Agreement. As described in detail in Section 6. Significant Transactions, to avoid violating the Liquidity Covenant associated with the
parent guarantee of the debt we need to pay off the debt through the sale of the facility or we need to raise additional capital.

Results of Operations - Comparison of the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenue

Revenue from the CDMO operations is now included in discontinued operations and not broken out separately on the financial statements. Our ongoing business is primarily focused on i) development of our pipeline for which we do
not expect revenue and ii) on our AI-driven discovery platform. We may have revenue with the AI-driven discovery platform in the future.

Research and Development Expenses (“R&D”)

Research and development expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $2.8 million and $1.9 million, respectively, an increase of approximately $0.9 million. The increase was primarily related to increases
in personnel related to a full year of operation, investment into the San Diego facility, investments into our pipeline including IBIO-101, and EGFRIII, and expenses related to our AI-driven discovery platform.

General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”)

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $7.8 million and $5.4 million, respectively, an increase of $2.4 million. The increase resulted primarily from severance
related expenses related to the separation and general release agreement with the Company’s former CEO, and an increase in consulting costs to support the portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines, offset by lower recruiting
costs and travel.
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Total Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses, consisting primarily of R&D and G&A expenses, for the three months ended December 31, 2022, were approximately $10.6 million, compared to approximately $7.2 million in the same period of 2021.

Discontinued Operations:

On November 2, 2022, we announced our plans to divest its contract development and manufacturing organization (iBio CDMO, LLC) in order to complete its transformation into an AI-driven precision antibody discovery and
development company. In conjunction with the divestment, we completed a workforce reduction of approximately 60% and discontinued CDMO operations.  CDMO operations are now treated as a discontinued operation on our
financial statements. Losses for Discontinued Operations for the three months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately ($29.0) million and ($4.7) million, respectively.  In the quarter ended December 31, 2022, we had
impairments of fixed assets of approximately ($17.6) million, personnel costs including severance of ($2.9) million, inventory reserves of approximately ($0.8) million, and the remaining costs were operational.

Net Loss Attributable to iBio, Inc. Stockholders

Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the three months ended December 31, 2022, was ($33.6) million, or ($3.42) per share. Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the three months ended December 31, 2021,
was approximately ($11.9) million or ($1.37) per share.

Results of Operations - Comparison of the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Revenue

Revenue from the CDMO operations is now included in discontinued operations and not broken out separately on the financial statements. Revenue was otherwise immaterial. Our ongoing business is primarily focused on i)
development of our pipeline for which we do not expect revenue and ii) on our AI-driven discovery platform. We may have revenue with the AI-driven discovery platform in the future.

Research and Development Expenses (“R&D”)

Research and development expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $5.3 million and $3.0 million, respectively, an increase of approximately $2.3 million. The increase was primarily related to increases in
personnel related to a full year of operation, investment into the San Diego facility, investments into our pipeline including IBIO-101, and EGFRIII, and expenses related to our AI-driven discovery platform.

General and Administrative Expenses (“G&A”)

General and administrative expenses for the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately $12.9 million and $9.5 million, respectively, an increase of $3.4 million. The increase resulted primarily from increased
headcount, an increase in consulting costs to support the portfolio of proprietary therapeutics and vaccines, offset by lower recruiting costs and travel.

Total Operating Expenses

Total operating expenses, consisting primarily of R&D and G&A expenses, for the six months ended December 31, 2022, were approximately $18.2 million, compared to approximately $12.5 million in the same period of 2021.

Discontinued Operations:

On November 2, 2022, we announced our plans to divest its contract development and manufacturing organization (iBio CDMO, LLC) in order to complete its transformation into an AI-driven precision antibody discovery and
development company. In conjunction with the divestment, we completed a workforce reduction of approximately 60% and discontinued CDMO operations.  CDMO operations are now treated as a discontinued operation on our
financial statements. Losses for Discontinued Operations for the six months ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 were approximately ($33.6) million and ($8.5) million, respectively.  For the six months ended December 31, 2022,
impairments included fixed assets of approximately ($17.6) million, consumables and inventory of approximately ($4.9) million, personnel costs including severance of approximately ($5.8) million, and the remaining costs were
operational.



Table of Contents

40

Net Loss Attributable to iBio, Inc. Stockholders from Continuing Operations

Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the six months ended December 31, 2022, was ($51.7) million, or (5.54) per share. Net loss attributable to iBio, Inc. stockholders for the six months ended December 31, 2021, was
approximately ($20.9) million or  ($2.40) per share.

Uses of Cash & Funding Requirements

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was approximately ($21.6) million for the six months ended December 31, 2022. The use of cash was primarily attributable to funding our net loss for the period.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities of approximately ($1.2) million for the six months ended December 31, 2022 attributable primarily to the redemption of debt securities of $4.9 million, the purchase of fixed assets of ($5.4) million,
and ($0.7) million associated with the asset purchase of RubrYc Therapeutics, Inc. (Refer to Note 6 – Significant Transactions for details.)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities during the six months ended December 31, 2022, was approximately ($1.9) million and was mainly attributable to the proceeds from the sale of common stock, offset by payments towards the term
note made to Woodforest as part of Amendment 1 to the credit agreement.

Funding Requirements

We have incurred significant losses and negative cash flows from operations since our spin-off from Integrated BioPharma in August 2008. As of December 31, 2022, our accumulated deficit was approximately $(275.6) million and we
used approximately ($21.6) million of cash for operating activities during the six months ended December 31, 2022.

We plan to fund our future business operations using cash on hand, through proceeds realized in connection with the commercialization of our technologies, through proceeds from the sale of the our CDMO entity or the facility,
through the collection or proceeds from our license agreement with Fraunhofer, through potential proceeds from the sale or out-licensing of assets, and through proceeds from the sale of additional equity or other securities. The Term
Loan with Woodforest and the Guaranty requires we maintain an unrestricted cash balance of $7.5 million, which limits our ability to use our funds for operations.  We are currently in default of this liquidity covenant, which default
has been waived for a short period of time dependent upon us meeting certain milestones.  If we should not meet the milestones such that the default is no longer waived and if Woodforest makes a demand for the acceleration of all
payments due to this default, it could result in all obligations that are guaranteed being due and payable immediately without further notice. We cannot be certain that such funding will be available on favorable terms or available at all.
If we are unable to raise funds when required or on favorable terms, this assumption may no longer be operative, and we may have to: a) significantly delay, scale back, or discontinue the product application and/or commercialization
of our proprietary technologies; b) seek collaborators for our technology and product candidates on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; c) relinquish or otherwise dispose of rights to technologies, product
candidates, or products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize; or d) possibly cease operations.  

See Liquidity and Capital Resources above for further information.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities
(SPEs), which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually limited purposes. As of December 31, 2022, we were not involved in any SPE transactions.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and all applicable U.S. GAAP accounting standards effective as of December 31, 2022, have been taken into consideration in preparing the
condensed consolidated financial statements. The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements requires estimates and assumptions that affect the
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reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures. Some of those estimates are subjective and complex, and, consequently, actual results could differ from those estimates. We base our estimates, to the
extent possible, on historical experience. Historical information is modified as appropriate based on current business factors and various assumptions that we believe are necessary to form a basis for making judgments about the
carrying value of assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis and make changes when necessary. Actual results could differ from our estimates.

Critical accounting estimates are those estimates made in accordance with U.S. GAAP that involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on the financial condition
or results of operations of the Company. The following accounting estimate had a material impact on the results of operations of the Company for the three and six months ended December 31, 2022.

Impairment of Fixed Assets

We monitor fixed assets for impairment indicators throughout the year.  When necessary, charges for impairments of long-lived assets are recorded for the amount by which the fair value is less than the carrying value of these assets.
 Changes in the Company’s business strategy or adverse changes in market conditions could impact impairment analyses and require the recognition of an impairment charge. Although we base our estimates on historical experience
and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.

On November 3, 2022, we announced we are seeking to divest our contract development and manufacturing organization (iBio CDMO) in order to complete its transformation into an antibody discovery and development company.
Through the process of seeking to divest its contract development and manufacturing organization, we believe we are able to sell the 130,000-square-foot cGMP facility location in Bryan, Texas along with certain equipment located at
the facility, including but not limited to the furniture, warehouse racks, and modular clean rooms.  The decision to divest triggered a quantitative impairment analysis of our CDMO fixed assets of the building in Bryan, Texas totaling
$22.65 million and machinery and equipment totaling $13.4 million.

We utilize a market approach, using independent third-party appraisals, including comparable assets, in addition to bids received from prospective buyers, to estimate the fair value of the property and equipment.  We recorded an
impairment charge of $6.3 million for the building and $11.3 million for the machinery and equipment in the quarter ended December 31, 2022.  The key assumption in the valuation analysis is the expected sale price of $21.1m of the
Bryan, Texas facility and the associated machinery and equipment less approximate costs to sell of $2.7 million. The carrying amount of the CDMO fixed assets after impairment at December 31, 2022 was $18.5 million. We may have
to record a further, potentially material, impairment to carrying amount of this asset group if we do not realize a sale transaction for the expected amount of $21.1 million less costs to sell in the near term.

Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

For indefinite life intangible assets, we perform an impairment test annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.  

Evaluating for impairment requires judgment, including the estimation of future cash flows, future growth rates and profitability and the expected life over which cash flows will occur. Changes in the Company’s business strategy or
adverse changes in market conditions could impact impairment analyses and require the recognition of an impairment charge. Although we base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, actual results could differ from these estimates.

We tested for impairment of the IBIO-101 therapeutic technology (or “IP”), classified as an indefinite-lived intangible asset, which had a carrying amount of $5 million at December 31, 2022. The key impairment trigger was the
decline in the Common Stock price over the month of December 2022. We did not record an impairment charge to the IP as of December 31, 2022. However, we will continue to monitor the value of the IP, since we believe it is at risk
for impairment. The primary impairment indicators that may arise in the near future are (1) any sustained decline in our common stock market price and (2) FDA decisions on similar competing technologies that are applying for Phase
1 approval.

The December 31, 2022 impairment analysis on the IP is considered a critical accounting estimate because it entailed management preparing highly uncertain cash flow projections and valuation assumptions of significant complexity
and subjectivity. One fair value indicator was developed using a discounted cash flow (“DCF”) analysis, where the most subjective assumptions were the estimated probability of obtaining Phase 1 approval of the IBIO-101 technology
from the FDA of 65% and a discount rate of 12%. These two key assumptions remained the same with those we included in our June 30, 2022 impairment analysis for the IP. We provide the following quantitative sensitivity analysis
only to allow our investors to obtain a better understanding of the degree and direction of potential material change in the fair value estimate developed using the DCF approach:
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● A hypothetical increase in the discount rate to 15% alone (all other assumptions kept constant) would not lead to an impairment of the intangible. However, a hypothetical increase in the discount rate to 16% would lead to an
impairment of $1 million to the intangible.

● A decrease in the estimated probability of clearing Phase 1 FDA approval to 45% (all other assumptions kept constant) would not lead to an impairment of the intangible. However, a hypothetical decrease in the estimated
probability of clearing Phase 1 FDA approval to 35% would lead to an impairment charge of $1.4 million to the intangible.

A second fair value indicator was developed using a market approach.  We reviewed public pharma/biotech company acquisitions & mergers completed from 2018-2023 with deal value less than $1 billion from the GlobalData
database. The equity premium observed in merger and acquisition transactions that closed during 2022 for similar therapeutic technologies was in the 50% to 125% range. We selected an equity market premium of 100% as the most
appropriate assumption at December 31, 2022, which was consistent with the 20-day median premium of the comparable pulled. A hypothetical decrease in the observable equity market premiums of 5% would lead to the estimated fair
value attributable to the IP under the market approach to decline materially and result in an approximate $1 million impairment amount.

We continue to operate in a highly competitive environment, rising interest rates (and cost of capital) and experiences liquidity challenges. Accordingly, we may have to adjust our cash flow projections and valuation assumptions in the
near future to account for market trends and any changes to our research and development plans. Any such future adjustments may lead to material future impairments in the IP and other related assets.

Our remaining critical accounting estimates remain consistent with the information disclosed in the same section in our last annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2022.

Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

As a smaller reporting company, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item 3.

Item 4.  Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, under the direction of our interim Principal Executive Officer and interim Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e) under the Exchange Act, as amended, as of December 31, 2022. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a
company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to management to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily
applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

Based on our evaluation, our interim Principal Executive Officer and interim Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II.  OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1.  Legal Proceedings.

We are not subject to any material legal proceedings.  From time to time, we may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings relating to claims arising out of our operations.  We are not currently a party to any legal
proceedings that, in the opinion of management, are likely to have a material adverse effect on our business.  Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of
management resources and other factors.

Item 1A.  Risk Factors  

Our business is subject to risks and events that, if they occur, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations and the trading price of our securities. The following information updates, and should be read in
conjunction with, the information disclosed in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” contained in the Annual Report. Except as described below, our risk factors as of the date of this Report have not changed materially from those described
in “Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors” of our Annual Report.

We are reviewing potential options to extend our cash runway. This review could impact our future operations and financial position.

We are currently evaluating a number of potential options to expand our cash runway, the implementation of which will impact the Company’s liquidity. In an effort to improve liquidity and runway, we recently announced that we were
selling our CDMO business and facility, reducing our work force by approximately 60%, and ceasing operations of our CDMO, thereby reducing annual spend on expenses by approximately 50%. Potential options being considered to
further increase liquidity include lowering our expenses further, focusing product development on a select number of product candidates, the sale or out-licensing of certain product candidates, raising money from capital markets, grant
revenue or collaborations, or a combination thereof.

Our cash, cash equivalents and investments in debt securities of $9.9 million as of December 31, 2022, is not anticipated to be sufficient to support our operations for at least 12 months from the date of the filing of this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q unless we reduce our burn rate further or increase our capital. Regardless of whether we are able to reduce our burn rate or sell or out-licensing of certain assets or parts of the business, we will need to raise
additional capital in order to fully execute our longer-term business plan.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to sell the CDMO assets or that if we are able to do so that we do so on favorable terms or that he exploration of potential options will result in any agreements or transactions, or that, if
completed, any agreements or transactions will be successful or on attractive terms. Although we expect to be able to sell the CDMO assets in 2023, no guaranteed timetable has been established for the completion of this process, and
we do not expect to disclose developments unless and until we have a material update to provide or the Board of Directors has concluded that disclosure is appropriate or required. If we determine to change our business strategy, our
future business, prospects, financial position and operating results could be significantly different than those in historical periods or projected by our management. Because of the significant uncertainty regarding our future plans, we
are not able to accurately predict the impact of a potential change in our business strategy and future funding requirements.

Our historical operating results indicate substantial doubt exists related to our ability to operate as a going concern.

We have incurred net losses and used significant cash in operating activities since inception, and we expect to continue to generate operating losses for the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2022, we have an accumulated deficit
of ($275.6) million. In addition, our projections regarding our cash runway are based upon certain assumptions, including that payments owed to us under outstanding notes receivable are paid at maturity.  Accordingly, these
assumptions are based upon the financial positions of the parties from which we are owed payments, for which there can be no guarantee.

We held cash, cash equivalents and investments in debt securities of $9.9 million as of December 31, 2022. Based on current trends and activities, there is significant doubt that we can continue as a going concern through the third
quarter of fiscal year 2023. We have announced that we have implemented and are continuing to implement cost savings measures to expand our cash runway, the implementation of which will impact our liquidity, but these measures
alone will not be sufficient to provide the financing needed to meet our long term goals. Potential options being considered to increase liquidity include further lowering our expenses through decreasing spending and focusing product
development on a select number of product candidates, the sale or out-licensing of certain product candidates or parts of the business, raising money from capital markets, grant revenue or collaborations, or a combination thereof.
Regardless of whether we are able to reduce our burn rate or sell or out-licensing certain assets or parts of the business, we will need to raise additional capital in order to fully execute our longer-term business plan. We believe based
on input from expert advisors, that it is likely we will be able to implement one or more options that will extend our cash runway for 12 months or more from the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. However, there
can be no assurance that we will be successful in implementing any of the options that we are evaluating.
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Our condensed consolidated financial statements as of and for the period ended December 31, 2022, have been prepared under the assumption that we will continue as a going concern for the next 12 months. Our management
concluded that our recurring losses from operations and the fact that we have not generated significant revenue or positive cash flows from operations raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for the next
12 months after issuance of our financial statements. Our auditors also included an explanatory paragraph in its report on our financial statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022 with respect to this uncertainty. If we
continue to experience operating losses, and we are not able to generate additional liquidity through a capital raise or other cash infusion, we might need to secure additional sources of funds, which may or may not be available to us. If
we are unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, we may have to further scale back or discontinue the development of our product candidates or other research and development initiatives or
initiate steps to cease operations.

We need additional funding to fully execute our business plan, which funding may not be available on commercially acceptable terms or at all. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we may be forced to delay, reduce or
eliminate the commercialization of our development and manufacturing services and efforts for our product development programs.

Even if we are able to sell the CDMO assets or the facility upon favorable terms, we will need additional capital to fully implement our current long-term business, operating and development plans as we do not anticipate that any of
our product candidates will generate revenue in the next few years, if at all. To the extent that we initiate or continue clinical development without securing collaborator or licensee funding, our research and development expenses could
increase substantially.

When we elect to raise additional funds or additional funds are required, we may raise such funds from time to time through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements or
other financing alternatives. Additional equity or debt financing or corporate collaboration and licensing arrangements may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all. We currently have no committed sources of funding.  On
November 25, 2020, we entered into a Controlled Equity Offering SM Sales Agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. ("Cantor Fitzgerald") to sell shares of common stock, from time to time, through an “at the
market offering” program having an aggregate offering price of up to $100,000,000 through which Cantor Fitzgerald would act as sales agent (the “Sales Agent”). There can be no assurance that we will meet the requirements to be able
to sell securities pursuant to the Sales Agreement, of if we meet the requirements that we will be able to raise sufficient funds on favorable terms. If we are unable to raise capital in sufficient amounts when needed or on attractive
terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate our research and development programs or commercialization efforts and our ability to generate revenues and achieve or sustain profitability will be substantially harmed.

If we are unable to raise funds when required or on favorable terms, this assumption may no longer be operative, and we may have to: a) significantly delay, scale back, or discontinue the product application and/or commercialization
of our proprietary technologies; b) seek collaborators for our technology and product candidates on terms that are less favorable than might otherwise be available; c) relinquish or otherwise dispose of rights to technologies, product
candidates, or products that we would otherwise seek to develop or commercialize; or d) possibly cease operations.

The failure to comply with the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, could result in a default under the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended, and, if uncured, it could potentially result in action against our pledged
assets.

There is no assurance that iBio CDMO or we will generate sufficient revenue or raise sufficient capital to be able to make the required principal payment under the Term Loan in the principal amount of $16,125,000 that iBio CDMO
entered into with Woodforest National Bank (“Woodforest”). The Term Loan with Woodforest is secured by (a) a leasehold deed of trust on our sole manufacturing facility (the “Facility”), (b) a letter of credit issued by JPMorgan
Chase Bank and (c) a first lien on all assets of iBio CDMO including the Facility.  We have also guaranteed the payment of all iBio CDMO’s obligations under the Credit Agreement. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Credit
Agreement, as amended, we are currently obligated to make a cash payment to Woodforest of (i) $5.1 million within two (2) Business Days (as defined in the Credit Agreement) upon our receipt of such amount owed to us by
Fraunhofer as part of our legal settlement with them, (ii) $250,000 per month for a six-month period commencing October 2022 through March 2023, and (iii) $22,375.  In January 2023, the Company’s unrestricted cash decreased
below the required $7,500,000, which created an event of default under the Credit Agreement and Guaranty, as a result of not complying with the Liquidity Covenant. As a result, on February 9, 2023, we and Woodforest amended the
Credit Agreement (the “Second Amendment”) to: (i) waive any current or prior default of the Liquidity Covenant until a period specified in such amendment which is dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit
Agreement, (ii) in addition to our unrestricted cash, until such period dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, we can account for all amounts owed to us by Fraunhofer as part of our legal
settlement with them (see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information) in determining whether we are in compliance with the Liquidity Covenant, (iii) permit us to sell certain equipment located at the Facility, whereby forty
percent (40%) of the net proceeds will be paid to Woodforest within ten (10) days following the end of the month of when the sales occurred, and (iv) remove any affirmative obligation on the part of the iBio CDMO to continue
conducting its primary business. If we fail to meet the specific milestone as set forth in the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, as described above, the Liquidity Covenant would no longer be waived and we would be in
default of the
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Credit Agreement, as amended due to our failure to meet the Liquidity Covenant and Woodforest could accelerate our payment obligations owed to them.  If we fail to successfully extend our cash runway via strategic options or other
alternatives as described, we would be in violation of the Liquidity Covenant in March 2023.  If we or iBio CDMO fails to comply with the terms of the Term Loans and/or the related agreements, including the affirmative and negative
covenants contained therein and fails to meet the milestone set forth above at a time when it does not have sufficient unrestricted cash to satisfy the requisite amount of the unrestricted cash covenant, Woodforest could declare a default,
accelerate the payment of all amounts owed by us to Woodforest and if the default were to remain uncured, Woodforest would have the right to proceed against any or all of the collateral securing their Term Loan. Our failure to make
such payments when due could result in our loss of the Facility. The Credit Agreement with Woodforest originally included an affirmative covenant that required us to provide to Woodforest within 120 days of our fiscal year end, our
financial statements, audited by independent certified public accountants without a “going concern” qualification. The financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2022 include a qualification that raises substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern.  As a result, without the amendment to the Credit Agreement, we would have been in violation of the covenant after the expiration of the cure period.  

Covenant restrictions in the Credit Agreement, as amended, may limit our ability to operate our business.
 
The Credit Agreement with Woodforest contains, and our future indebtedness agreements may contain covenants that restrict our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. The Credit
Agreement, as amended, currently requires maintaining $7,500,000 of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents (with the ability to lower the liquidity covenant to $5,000,000 upon the occurrence of a milestone detailed in the Credit
Agreement, as amended) and restricts iBio CDMO’s ability to:

● incur, assume or guarantee additional Debt (as defined in the Credit Agreement);
● repurchase capital stock;
● make other restricted payments including, without limitation, paying dividends and making investments;
● sell or otherwise dispose of assets other than as specified in the Credit Agreement, as amended.

If our acquired intangible assets become impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings.

We regularly review acquired intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment at least annually.
Factors that may be considered a change in circumstances, indicating that the carrying value of the intangible assets may not be recoverable, include: macroeconomic conditions, such as deterioration in general economic conditions;
industry and market considerations, such as deterioration in the environment in which we operate; cost factors, such as increases in labor or other costs that have a negative effect on earnings and cash flows; our financial performance,
such as negative or declining cash flows or a decline in actual or planned revenue or earnings compared with actual and projected results of relevant prior periods; the decision not to further develop certain pipeline assets; other
relevant entity-specific events, such as changes in management, key personnel, strategy, or customers; and sustained decreases in share price.

Changes in general economic conditions, geopolitical conditions, domestic and foreign trade policies, monetary policies and other factors beyond our control may adversely impact our business and operating results.

The uncertain financial markets, disruptions in supply chains, mobility restraints, and changing priorities as well as volatile asset values could impact our business in the future. We and our third-party contract manufacturers, contract
research organizations, and clinical sites may also face disruptions in procuring items that are essential to our research and development activities, including, for example, medical and laboratory supplies used in our clinical trials or
preclinical studies, in each case, that are sourced from abroad or for which there are shortages because of ongoing efforts to address the outbreak. These minor disruptions have had an immaterial effect on business, which we have
been able to address with minimal impact to our business operations to date. Further, although we have not experienced any material adverse effects on our business due to increasing inflation, it has raised operating costs for many
businesses and, in the future, could impact demand or pricing manufacturing of our drug candidates or services providers, foreign exchange rates or employee wages. We are actively monitoring the effects these disruptions and
increasing inflation could have on our operations.

Our operations and performance depend on global, regional and U.S. economic and geopolitical conditions. Russia’s invasion and military attacks on Ukraine have triggered significant sanctions from U.S. and European
leaders. These events are currently escalating and creating increasingly volatile global economic conditions. Resulting changes in U.S. trade policy could trigger retaliatory actions by Russia, its allies and other affected
countries, including China, resulting in a “trade war.” Furthermore, if the conflict between Russia and Ukraine continues for a long period of time, or if other countries, including the U.S., become further involved in the conflict,
we could face significant adverse effects to our business and financial condition.
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The above factors, including a number of other economic and geopolitical factors both in the U.S. and abroad, could ultimately have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows, including the following:

● effects of significant changes in economic, monetary and fiscal policies in the U.S. and abroad including currency fluctuations, inflationary pressures and significant income tax changes;
● supply chain disruptions;
● a global or regional economic slowdown in any of our market segments;
● changes in government policies and regulations affecting the Company or its significant customers;
● industrial policies in various countries that favor domestic industries over multinationals or that restrict foreign companies altogether;
● new or stricter trade policies and tariffs enacted by countries, such as China, in response to changes in U.S. trade policies and tariffs;
● postponement of spending, in response to tighter credit, financial market volatility and other factors;
● rapid material escalation of the cost of regulatory compliance and litigation;
● difficulties protecting intellectual property;
● longer payment cycles;
● credit risks and other challenges in collecting accounts receivable; and
● the impact of each of the foregoing on outsourcing and procurement arrangements.

Due to the discontinuance of the CDMO business, we will not be generating material revenue from CDMO operations going forward.

As a result of the discontinuance of the CDMO business, we will not generate material revenue from the CDMO operations any longer. 

We have experienced turnover in our senior management team, and the loss of one or more of our executive officers or key employees or an inability to attract and retain highly skilled employees could adversely affect our
business.
 
Our success depends largely upon the continued services of our key executive officers. We have in the past and may in the future experience changes in our executive management team resulting from the departure of executives, which
may be disruptive to our business. To continue to develop our pipeline and execute our strategy, we also must attract and retain highly skilled personnel in our industry.

Item 5. Other Information.

In January 2014, we entered into a license agreement with the University of Pittsburgh whereby we acquired exclusive worldwide rights to certain issued and pending patents covering specific candidate products for the treatment of
fibrosis (the "Licensed Technology") which license agreement was amended in August 2016 and again in December 2020 and February 2022. The license agreement provides for payment by us of a license issue fee, annual license
maintenance fees, reimbursement of prior patent costs incurred by the University, payment of a milestone payment upon regulatory approval for sale of a first product, and annual royalties on product sales. In addition, we have agreed
to meet certain diligence milestones related to product development benchmarks. As part of its commitment to the diligence milestones, we successfully commenced production of a plant-made peptide comprising the Licensed
Technology before March 31, 2014. The next milestone – filing an Investigational New Drug Application with the FDA or foreign equivalent covering the Licensed Technology ("IND") – initially was required to be met by December
1, 2015, and on November 2, 2020, was extended to be required to be met by December 31, 2021 and on February 8, 2022 was further extended to December 31, 2023. In addition, the amounts of the annual license maintenance fee
and payment upon completion of various regulatory milestones were amended.  On February 14 2023, we provided notification to the University of Pittsburgh terminating the license agreement. Accordingly, we recorded a full
impairment of the related intangible asset associated with IBIO-100 in the amount of $25,000.

On February 9, 2023, we and Woodforest entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement which amended the Credit Agreement to: (i) waive any current or prior default of the Liquidity Covenant until such period
dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, (ii) in addition to our unrestricted cash, until a period specified in such amendment which is dependent upon the occurrence of a specific milestone in the
Credit Agreement, we can account for all amounts owed to us by Fraunhofer as part of our legal settlement with them (see Note 19 – Fraunhofer Settlement for more information) in determining whether we are in compliance with the
Liquidity Covenant, (iii) permit us to sell certain equipment located at the Facility, whereby forty percent (40%) of the net proceeds will be paid to Woodforest within ten (10) days following the end of the month of when the sales
occurred, and (iv) remove any affirmative obligation on the part of the iBio CDMO to continue conducting its primary business. If we fail to meet the specific milestone in the Credit Agreement, we could be in default of the Credit
Agreement.
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Item 6.  Exhibits.

Exhibit No.     Description

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc., Certificate of Merger, Certificate of Ownership and Merger, Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 11, 2018 – File No. 001-35023)

   
3.2  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on

February 14, 2018 – File No. 001-35023)
   

3.3  Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 8, 2018 –
File No. 001-35023)

   
3.4 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 26, 2022 –

File No. 000-53125)

3.5 Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation if iBio, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
October 7, 2022 – File No. 001-35023)

10.1 Separation Agreement and General Release, dated December 1, 2022, by and between iBio, Inc. and Thomas Isett (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on December 2, 2022 – File No.  )

10.2* Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated February 9, 2023 by and between iBio, Inc. and Woodforest National Bank

10.3+* Special Incentive Bonus Agreement dated January 26, 2023 by and between iBio, Inc. and Martin Brenner

10.4+* Special Incentive Bonus Agreement dated January 26, 2023 by and between iBio, Inc. and Felipe Duran

31.1*  Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   

31.2*  Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   

32.1*  Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* Certification of Periodic Report by Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
   

101.INS  Inline   XBRL Instance*
   

101.SCH  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema*
   

101.CAL  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation*
   

101.DEF  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition*
   

101.LAB  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labeled*
   

101.PRE  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation*

104 Cover page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*   Filed herewith.

+  Certain portions of this exhibit indicated therein by [**] have been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation 8-K.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000114420418027689/tv493469_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000114420418009023/tv484918_ex3-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000114420418033574/tv496218_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000110465922009994/tm224794d1_ex3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000142072022000062/ibio-20221007xex3d1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1420720/000142072022000086/ibio-20221201xex10d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex10d2.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex10d3.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex10d4.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex31d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex31d2.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex32d1.htm
https://s3.amazonaws.com/content.stockpr.com/ibioinc/sec/0001420720-23-000009/for_pdf/ibio-20221231xex32d2.htm
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

 iBio, Inc.
 (Registrant)
  
Date:           February 14, 2023 /s/ Marc Banjak
 Marc Banjak
 General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

Principal Executive Officer
 

Date:           February 14, 2023 /s/ Felipe Duran
 Felipe Duran
 Interim Chief Financial Officer
 Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer



CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS EXHIBIT MARKED BY [***] HAS BEEN OMITTED
BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS
PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL

Exhibit 10.2

SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Second Amendment”) is entered into as of the
Second Amendment Closing Date (as defined below) by and between IBIO CDMO LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Borrower”), and WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK, a national banking association, as lender (in such capacity,
“Lender”).

RECITALS

A. Borrower and Lender entered into that certain Credit Agreement dated November 1, 2021 (as amended by the
First Amendment thereto dated as of October 11, 2022 and as otherwise amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time
to time, the “Credit Agreement”).

B. On or about January 30, 2023, Parent Guarantor failed to comply with the liquidity covenant under Section 18 of
the Parent Guaranty Agreement from and after such date, which failure to comply is a breach of Section 10 of the Credit
Agreement, resulting in a Default under Section 11.2 of the Credit Agreement (herein, the “Liquidity Covenant Default”).

C. Borrower has requested Lender agree to provide a waiver of the Liquidity Covenant Default and enter into certain
agreements and amendments to certain provisions of the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

D. Borrower and Lender are willing to enter into the requested waiver and amendments and agreements set forth
herein, subject to and conditioned upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Second Amendment.

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises herein contained, the mutual benefits to be derived herefrom and
other good and valuable consideration received by each party, and each intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties agree as
follows:

I. Agreements and Amendments to Credit Agreement. Borrower and Lender agree as follows:

(a) Section 1.1, Definitions, of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following definitions in
their proper alphabetical order:

“Second Amendment” means the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of the Second Amendment
Closing Date by and between Borrower and Lender.

“Second Amendment Closing Date” means February 9, 2023.

(b) Section 2.4, Mandatory Prepayment(c) , of the Credit Agreement is hereby
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amended by (x) deleting the “and” immediately prior to the “(iv)” in clause (a) of such section, (y) amending and
restating sub clause (iv) of clause (a) of such section in its entirety to read as follows and (z) adding a new sub clause (v)
to clause (a) of such section to read as follows:

(iv)100% of the Net Proceeds from the Disposition of any Collateral (other than proceeds of a Disposition
permitted by Section 9.4(a)); and (v) 40% of the Net Proceeds from the Disposition of any Collateral consisting of
equipment as permitted by and in accordance with Section 9.4(b).

(d) Section 8.12, Conduct BusinessI.1 , of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and
restating such section in its entirety to read as follows: “[Intentionally Omitted]”

(e) Section 9.4, Disposition of AssetsI.2 , of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and
restating such section in its entirety to read as follows:

Disposition of Assets.  (a) Borrower and the other Loan Parties shall not make any Disposition, or enter into any
agreement to make any Disposition, other than (x) Dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business which are
obsolete or worn out, are no longer used in their respective businesses, or which such Person has determined are no
longer needed to operate it business, (y) the Disposition of delinquent accounts in the ordinary course of business for
purposes of collection, and (z) Dispositions relating to, or in connection with, (i) licenses and sublicenses granted by a
Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan Party and (ii) leases and subleases (by a Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Loan
Party as lessor or sublessor) to third parties in the ordinary course of business not impairing (1) the business of the Loan
Parties or any of their Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, in any material respect, or (2) the Ground Lease in any respect.

(b)  Notwithstanding the foregoing restrictions on Dispositions set forth in clause (a) above, commencing with the
month of January 2023 and continuing each month thereafter, Borrower may, unless a Default or a Potential
Default has occurred and is continuing, make Dispositions of Collateral consisting of equipment, in exchange for
cash funds, to one or more third parties, in each case, subject to the limitations and requirements set forth in this
clause (b).  For any Dispositions of Collateral consisting of equipment made by Borrower in any given month, no
later than ten (10) days following the end of such month, Borrower shall (i) pay to Lender in immediately
available cash funds, without setoff or counterclaim of any kind, forty percent (40%) of the Net Proceeds received
by Borrower for the Disposition of such Collateral during such month and (ii) provide Lender with (A) a detailed
accounting of such Collateral sold during such month, (B) a schedule listing such Collateral sold during such
month and (C) a schedule listing all remaining Collateral consisting of equipment, in each case, in Proper Form.
 In no event shall Borrower accept any non-cash proceeds in respect of any Dispositions of Collateral consisting
of equipment under this clause (b).  At the reasonable request of Borrower, Lender will provide



3

one or more Uniform Commercial Code UCC3 amendments necessary to release any security interests in favor of
Lender in and to any such Collateral subject to Disposition by Borrower under this clause (b), and Lender will use
commercially reasonable efforts to timely provide any such UCC3 amendments requested by Borrower to the
extent required by a purchaser in order to consummate any Disposition of such Collateral under this clause (b), all
at the cost and expense of Borrower.

(f) [***].  Any failure to so deliver [***] on or before such date shall be an immediate Default under Section
11.2(b) of the Credit Agreement, without the benefit of any grace period otherwise stated in such section.

(g) Liquidity Covenant.   Effective as of the Second Amendment Closing Date and through and including the
Applicable Liquidity Modification Termination Date, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Credit
Agreement (as amended by this Second Amendment), the Parent Guaranty Agreement or any other Loan Document, each
of Lender and Borrower acknowledges and agrees to and ratifies and confirms the modifications, as set forth in the
Guarantor’s Consent and Agreement attached to this Second Amendment, with respect to the calculation of the liquidity
covenant under Section 18 of the Parent Guaranty Agreement.

II. Waiver.

(a) Lender hereby waives the Liquidity Covenant Default, including any failure to give notice thereof.

(b) The waiver granted by Lender hereunder does not indicate an intent to establish any course of dealing
between Lender and Borrower with regard to future waivers, consents, agreements to forbear or any other modifications
that may be requested.  Lender’s agreement to the waiver set forth herein should not be construed as an indication that
Lender would be willing to agree to any further or future consents, waivers, agreements to forbear or any modifications to
any of the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, or other Loan Documents, or in respect of any Potential
Default or Default that may exist or that may occur.

III. Conditions Precedent to the Effectiveness of Second Amendment.  This Second Amendment shall be effective
upon the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent:

(a) Lender shall have received this Second Amendment duly executed by Borrower and Parent Guarantor;

(b) Lender shall have received an Officer’s Certificate and authorizing consent for each of Borrower and
Parent Guarantor, in Proper Form;

(c) To the extent outstanding and unpaid, the Borrower shall have paid to Lender (i) any fees and expenses
due and owing under the Credit Agreement and (ii) all costs and expenses, including reasonable legal fees, payable in connection
with this Second
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Amendment to the extent invoiced on or prior to the Second Amendment Closing Date; and

(d) After giving effect to this Second Amendment, no Potential Default or Default shall have occurred and be
continuing.

IV. Reaffirmation of Representations and Warranties.  To induce Lender to enter into this Second Amendment,
Borrower hereby reaffirms, as of the Second Amendment Closing Date (except as otherwise provided herein or to the extent such
representations and warranties speak as to an earlier date or a date certain), its representations and warranties contained in
Section 7 of the Credit Agreement (other than the representation set forth in the last sentence of Section 7.10 of the Credit
Agreement), and in all other documents executed pursuant thereto, and additionally represents and warrants as follows:

(a) The execution and delivery of this Second Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations
under this Second Amendment are within Borrower’s power, have been duly authorized by all necessary company action,
have received all necessary governmental approval (if any shall be required), and do not and will not contravene or
conflict with any provision of law or of the Organizational Documents of Borrower or of any agreement binding upon
Borrower.

(b) This Second Amendment represents the legal, valid and binding obligations of Borrower enforceable
against Borrower in accordance with its terms subject as to enforcement only to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally.

(c) After giving effect to this Second Amendment, no change, event or state of affairs has occurred and is
continuing which would constitute a Potential Default or a Default.

(d) No exhibit or schedule to the Credit Agreement is required to be supplemented, amended or modified in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Second Amendment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrower and Lender agree that after the First Amendment Closing Date, a Material Adverse
Event occurred resulting from the Borrower no longer conducting its primary business (the “Primary Business MAE”).  For the
avoidance of doubt, Lender acknowledges and agrees that the Borrower provided timely notice to Lender of the Primary
Business MAE in accordance with Section 8.1(d)(ix) of the Credit Agreement.  For the avoidance of doubt, Lender
acknowledges and agrees that, after giving effect to this Second Amendment, no Default has occurred or exists under the Credit
Agreement with respect to the Primary Business MAE.

V. Defined Terms.  Terms used herein that are defined in the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, shall have the
same meanings herein, unless the context otherwise requires.

VI. Reaffirmation of Credit Agreement.  This Second Amendment shall be deemed to be an amendment to the Credit
Agreement, and the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, is hereby ratified, adopted and confirmed in each and every respect.
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VII. Ratification of Liens; Release. The Borrower acknowledges and ratifies, as of the Second Amendment Closing
Date, the existence and priority of the Liens granted by the Borrower in favor of Lender pursuant to the Security Documents in
and to the Collateral and represents, warrants and covenants that such Liens are valid, existing and in full force and effect.  THE
BORROWER HEREBY RELEASES, DISCHARGES AND ACQUITS LENDER FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS,
DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION, REMEDIES, AND LIABILITIES OF EVERY KIND OR NATURE
(INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION, LENDER LIABILITY) ARISING OUT OF ANY ACT, OCCURRENCE,
TRANSACTION OR OMISSION OCCURRING IN CONNECTION WITH THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENTS PRIOR TO THE SECOND AMENDMENT CLOSING DATE.

VIII. Governing Law.  THIS SECOND AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS.

IX. Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Second Amendment is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, (a)
the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Second Amendment shall not be affected or impaired
thereby and (b) the parties shall engage in good faith negotiations to replace the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provisions, with
valid provisions the economic effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provisions.  The invalidity of a provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render unenforceable such provision in
any other jurisdiction.

X. Multiple Counterparts and Electronic Signatures.  This Second Amendment may be executed in any number of
counterparts with the same effect as if all signatories had signed the same document.  All counterparts must be construed together
to constitute one and the same instrument.  This Second Amendment may be transmitted and signed by facsimile, portable
document format (PDF), or other electronic means, and shall have the same effect as manually-signed originals and shall be
binding on the Loan Parties and Lender, with originals signatures to be delivered to Lender at Lender’s request.

XI. Section Headings.  Section headings in this Second Amendment are included for convenience of reference only
and shall not affect the interpretation of this Second Amendment.

XII. Successors and Assigns.  This Second Amendment is binding upon, and inures to the benefit of, the parties hereto
and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

XIII. Reservation of Rights; No Waiver of Defaults.  Lender hereby reserves all of its rights and remedies under the
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents in all respects and for all purposes in addition to all other rights and remedies
available to it under applicable Law or in equity.  Other than as set forth herein, this Second Amendment is not intended to
operate as a waiver of Lender’s rights and remedies, and, other than as set forth herein, does not constitute or operate as (a) a
waiver of (or a consent to) any existing Potential Default or Default or any other violation of or noncompliance with any
provision of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, or any other Loan Document, (b) an agreement to waive any existing or
future Potential Default or Default, or (c) a waiver of Lender’s right to insist upon strict compliance with each term, covenant,
condition and provision of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby,
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and the other Loan Documents.

XIV. ENTIRETY.  THIS SECOND AMENDMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT AMONG
BORROWER, GUARANTORS AND LENDER AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR,
CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS BY BORROWER, GUARANTORS AND LENDER.
 THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG BORROWER, GUARANTORS AND LENDER.

[Signature pages follow.]



Signature Page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Second Amendment to be duly executed on the Second
Amendment Closing Date.

BORROWER:

IBIO CDMO LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By: /s/ Robert Lutz
Robert Lutz
Authorized Person



Signature Page to Second Amendment to Credit Agreement

LENDER:

WOODFOREST NATIONAL BANK

By:/s/ Cameron D. Jones
Cameron D. Jones
Senior Vice President



GUARANTOR’S CONSENT AND AGREEMENT

As an inducement to Lender to execute, and in consideration of Lender’s execution of, this Second Amendment, IBIO,
INC., a Delaware corporation (“Guarantor”), hereby consents to this Second Amendment, and agrees that this Second
Amendment shall in no way release, diminish, impair, reduce or otherwise adversely affect the obligations and liabilities of the
undersigned under the Guaranty executed November 1, 2021 (as amended by the Guaranty First Amendment and as further
amended by the Guaranty Second Amendment as defined below, the “Guaranty”) executed by Guarantor in connection with the
Credit Agreement.  Guarantor further represents and warrants to Lender that (a) the representations and warranties in the
Guaranty are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Second Amendment Closing Date as though made on such
date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date), (b) after giving effect to
this Second Amendment and the Guaranty Second Amendment, it is in full compliance with all covenants and agreements
contained in the Guaranty, (c) after giving effect to this Second Amendment and the Guaranty Second Amendment, no Potential
Default or Default has occurred and is continuing under the Guaranty and (d) the execution and delivery of this Guarantor’s
Consent and Agreement are within Guarantor’s power and have been duly authorized by all necessary company action.  This
Guarantor’s Consent and Agreement shall be binding upon Guarantor, and its successors and permitted assigns, and shall inure to
the benefit of Lender, and its successors and permitted assigns.

The liquidity covenant contained in Section 18 of the Guaranty is hereby amended, as of the Second Amendment Closing
Date, as set forth below (herein, the “Guaranty Second Amendment”).  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this
Guarantor’s Consent and Agreement, the Guaranty or in any other Loan Document, from the Second Amendment Closing Date
through and including [***] (herein, each the “Applicable Liquidity Modification Termination Date”), Guarantor may, for
purposes of calculating the liquidity covenant under Section 18 of the Guaranty, include in the calculation of Unrestricted Cash
the proceeds expected to be received with respect to the Fraunhofer Settlement Amount.  At all times after the Applicable
Liquidity Modification Termination Date, Guarantor shall calculate the liquidity covenant under Section 18 of the Guaranty in
the manner set forth in the Guaranty as in effect prior to the Second Amendment Closing Date, without giving effect to the
modifications herein.

[Signature page follows.]



Signature Page to Guarantor’s Consent and Agreement to
Second Amendment to Credit Agreement

GUARANTOR:

IBIO, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By: /s/ Robert Lutz
Robert Lutz
Chief Financial and Business Officer

 
 



Exhibit 10.3

CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS EXHIBIT MARKED BY [***] HAS BEEN
OMITTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL

January 26, 2023

VIA [DOCUSIGN]
Martin Brenner
[***]
[***]

Re: Special Incentive Bonus Agreement

Dear Martin,

As you are aware, iBio, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is currently in the process of selling its
manufacturing facility and transforming into a biopharmaceutical discovery and development company solely focused on
immune-oncology (the “Transformation”). We are grateful for your dedication and service to the Company and trust you
will provide highly valued assistance in both making this Transformation a success and in achieving the Company’s 2023
objectives.

Accordingly, the Company is offering you a Special Incentive Bonus in exchange for your agreement to continue
employment with the Company through the earlier of: (a) July 1, 2023, or (b) the successful achievement of the
Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined by the Board of Directors (“Board”). The Board will determine in its sole
discretion whether and when the 2023 objectives are successfully completed.  The Special Incentive Bonus shall be
payable in addition to any other compensation and benefits to which you may otherwise be entitled, including any
severance benefits under the terms and conditions of any Employment Agreement.

This Special Incentive Bonus Agreement (“Agreement”) sets forth the terms and conditions of the Special
Incentive Bonus.

1. Transition Period and Continued Employment.  The term of this Agreement will begin seven (7) days
after your execution and non-revocation of this Agreement and will end on the earlier of: (i) July 1, 2023, or (ii) the
successful achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined and determined by the Board (such term being the
“Transition Period”).

2. Special Incentive Bonus. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, you will be eligible for a Special
Incentive Bonus of an equity award of 95,348 restricted stock units representing the contingent right to receive one share
of common stock per restricted stock unit which will have a value equal to 40% of your fiscal year 2023 annualized salary
of $417,150.  The restricted stock units shall vest on the earlier of (i) July 1, 2023 or (ii) the successful achievement of the
Company’s 2023 objectives as defined by the Company’s Board of Directors provided that you satisfy all of the conditions
to vesting described in Paragraph 3. The Special Incentive Bonus shall be subject to all applicable federal, state, and local
tax withholdings.  

3. Eligibility.  To receive the Special Incentive Bonus, you must: (i) remain employed by the Company in
good standing through the applicable Transition Period; (ii) remain in compliance with all obligations in this Agreement;
(iii) remain in compliance with all obligations in your Employment
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Agreement dated December 23, 2020 and Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement; and (iv) execute and not
revoke this Agreement and Addendum; and (v) fully and satisfactorily perform all of your job duties; provided, however,
that if your failure to remain employed with the Company through either Transition Period is a result of the Company’s
termination of your employment without Cause, you will remain eligible for the Special Incentive Bonus so long as all
other conditions herein are fulfilled, as applicable. “Cause” shall have the same meaning as defined in your Employment
Agreement. Shares will be delivered on the 30th day following the vesting date, subject to your execution and non-
revocation of this Agreement and Addendum.

4. General Release. In consideration for the Company entering into this Agreement and Addendum and
your eligibility for the Special Incentive Bonus, you shall and hereby do voluntarily, freely, fully and completely release,
waive and assign to the Company any and all claims that you have ever asserted, or could have asserted, against the
Company or any of its past or current shareholders, affiliates, officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, insurers or
representatives (together, the “Other Released Parties”) on or at any time before your execution of this Agreement;
whether sounding in or based upon any contract, tort, statute, regulation or common law. For the sake of clarity, the
released claims include, without limitation, any and all claims under or based, in whole or in part, upon all oral or written
contracts, all documents governing any Employer-promulgated plan, all written or oral representations or promises, as
well as all claims for compensation, benefits, stock, equity, wrongful discharge, any legal restriction on the Company’s
right to terminate employees, discrimination, accommodation, commissions, minimum wage, overtime pay, breach of
contract, retaliation, torts (including, but not limited to, any and all claims of negligence, negligent hiring, retention and/or
supervision, intentional or negligent invasion of privacy, defamation, compelled defamation, intentional or negligent
infliction of emotional harm, libel, slander, invasion of privacy or violations of public policy) or violation of any rights
arising under any federal, state, or local law, including, without limitation, Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the
Civil Rights Restoration Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act,
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Older
Worker Benefit Protection Act, the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Equal Pay Act, the
Civil Rights Act of 1991, Section 1981 of U.S.C. Title 42, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the National Labor Relations
Act, the Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act,
the Immigration Reform and Control Act, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and
Economic Security Act, any local, state, or federal law arising from and/or enacted to address the COVID-19 virus, any
claims arising under California, Texas, or other state laws, including but not limited to the California Worker Adjustment
and Retraining Notification Act, the California Labor Code, California’s Business and Professions Code §§ 17200 et seq.,
and the applicable California Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders, California Fair Employment and Housing Act,
the California Family Rights Act, any claims arising under the Texas Labor Code that may be legally waived and released
including the Texas Payday Act, the Texas Anti-Retaliation Act, the Texas Whistleblower Act, the Texas Commission on
Human Rights Act, all of their amendments (as applicable), or any analogous state and/or local laws, and any and all
claims for monetary recovery, including past or future lost wages, mental anguish, pain and suffering, compensatory
damages, punitive damages, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, expenses, costs, and interest.

The released claims include claims that you know about and those that you may not know about up to and including the
date of the execution of this Agreement.  The released claims specifically include, without limitation, all claims for
attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by you for any reason arising out of or relating to any matters covered by this
Agreement. The only claims not released are any claims that arise under this Agreement, and those which, as a matter of
law, cannot be released by you under any circumstances.  Notwithstanding the broad scope of the general release of claims
above, the released claims are not intended to bar any claims that, as a matter of law, whether by statute or otherwise, may
not be waived, such as
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claims for workers’ compensation and unemployment compensation benefits, violations of rules of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, challenges to the validity of the release under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, or
unemployment insurance benefits. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to prohibit or interfere with any administrative
proceeding, including any filing of a charge or participation in any administrative investigation or proceeding by you;
provided, however, that you expressly release and waive any right to recovery of any type, including back pay, front pay,
compensatory damages, liquidated or punitive damages, attorney’s fees, reinstatement, or any other benefit, in any
administrative or court action, whether state or federal, and whether brought by you or on your behalf, related in any way
to the matters released herein. Nothing in this Agreement shall waive or release any rights or claims that you may have
under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

5. Release of Unknown Claims. You understand that the General Release and Waiver of All Claims set
forth in Paragraph 4 above extends to all of the aforementioned claims and potential claims forever and to the fullest
extent permissible by law, whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, and that this constitutes an
essential term of this Agreement. You expressly waive any right or benefit available to you in any capacity under the
provisions of California Civil Code § 1542, which provides as follows:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR RELEASING
PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF
EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER, WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY
AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR OR RELEASED PARTY.

6. At-Will Status. You acknowledge and agree that you are employed on an at-will basis and that this
Agreement does not contain or constitute a guarantee of employment for any specific period and that, at any time and for
any reason, you may resign or the Company may terminate your employment.

7. Confidentiality.  You agree that you will keep the terms of this Agreement confidential, and will not,
except as required by law, disclose such terms to any person other than your spouse or professional advisors (who also
must keep these terms confidential).

8. Other Agreements. This Agreement does not supersede or replace any other agreement you may have
with the Company, including but not limited to, your Employment Agreement, Proprietary Information and Inventions
Agreement, and any other post-employment obligations outlined in other applicable agreements.

9. Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement all taxes that the
Company reasonably determines to be legally required.  However, it is solely your obligation to pay all required taxes on
any amounts provided under this Agreement, regardless of whether withholding is required.

10. Assignment.  The obligation to pay the Special Incentive Bonus is solely that of the Company, provided
that the Company may assign its obligations to any successor entity. You may not assign your right to receive the Special
Incentive Bonus.

11. Modification.  Any modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective only if it
is in writing signed by the parties.
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12. Governing Law; Arbitration.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of California,
without regard to conflict of law principles.  The parties mutually agree that any and all claims or controversies arising out
of or relating to your employment, the termination thereof, or otherwise arising between you and the Company shall, in
lieu of a jury or other civil trial, be settled by final and binding arbitration. This includes all claims between the parties.
The parties also agree to submit claims to the arbitrator regarding issues of arbitrability, the validity, scope, and
enforceability of this Agreement, jurisdictional issues, and any other challenges to this Agreement. Nothing in this
Agreement shall be construed to prevent either party’s use of provisional remedies in aid of arbitration from a court of
appropriate jurisdiction including, but not limited to, claims for temporary or preliminary injunctive relief. The parties
consent to the jurisdiction of the San Diego County courts and if the jurisdictional prerequisites exist, the United States
District Court for the Southern District of California for such provisional relief. Such arbitration shall be conducted in
accordance with the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules & Procedures. Any such arbitration will be conducted in San
Diego, California. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the administrative costs of the arbitration (filing fees,
cost for the arbitration site, hearing fees, arbitrator’s fee) shall be divided equally between the parties. In the event that the
applicable rules of JAMS, any express statutory provisions, or controlling case law conflicts with this allocation and
requires the payment of administrative costs of arbitration by the Company, the administrative costs of arbitration will be
paid by The Company. The parties agree that to the extent, if any, you may have a nonwaivable right to file a claim or
charge against the Company (such as claims for unemployment benefits, workers’ compensation benefits, or charges of
discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission), this Agreement shall not be intended to waive such
a right to file. If you or the Company arbitrates a claim against the other, neither you nor the Company shall, without
written consent of the other party, have the right to participate in a class action in court or in arbitration, either as a class
representative or a class member or join or consolidate claims with any other claims asserted by any other person. In the
event any portion of this agreement is found to be unenforceable, that portion shall not be effective and the remainder of
the agreement shall remain effective.  To the extent either party is found to have a right to proceed with any action outside
an arbitral forum, the parties hereby waive their respective rights to a trial by jury, and further agree that no demand,
request or motion will be made for trial by jury.

13. Counterparts and Electronic Delivery.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of
which will be deemed an original. A facsimile, telecopy or other reproduction hereof may be executed by one or more
parties hereto, and an executed copy of this Agreement may be delivered by one or more parties by facsimile or similar
electronic transmission device pursuant to which the signature of or on behalf of such party can be seen, and such
execution and delivery will be considered valid, binding and effective for all purposes.

14. Review Period. You acknowledge that you were given a reasonable period of time of at least twenty-one
(21) days within which to consider and sign this Agreement and, at your option alone, you may sign prior to the end of
that period. You acknowledge that you have been advised to consult with counsel before executing this Agreement.  You
further acknowledge that this Agreement contains a general release of claims against the Released Parties, and specifically
refers to rights and claims under the ADEA.  You acknowledge that you are not waiving any claims that may arise after
the effective date of this Agreement, and you are waiving rights or claims only in exchange for consideration in addition
to anything of value to which you are already entitled.  You agree that any modifications, material or otherwise, made to
this Agreement, do not restart or affect in any manner the original up to twenty-one (21) day consideration period.  You
further acknowledge that you understand all of the terms of the Agreement and their significance, that you knowingly and
voluntarily assent to all the terms and conditions herein, and that you are signing the Agreement voluntarily and of your
own free will.
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15. Revocation Period.  You will have seven (7) days following the execution of this Agreement to revoke
the terms of this Agreement.  Any such revocation must be dated, submitted in writing to, and received by Julie Walkoviak
at jwalkoviak@ibiocmo.com within seven (7) calendar days after you sign this Agreement.  If you revoke this Agreement,
it shall be null and void, and the obligations or entitlements of the parties under the Agreement shall be null, void, and
eliminated. In this event, you shall not be entitled to the Special Incentive Bonus referenced in Paragraph 2.  You
acknowledge and understand that this Agreement does not become effective until the seven (7) day revocation period has
expired.

Should you have further questions or concerns about any of the above, please do not hesitate to contact me. Please
sign letter below to acknowledge your understanding of and acceptance to the terms of this Agreement.  We look forward
to your continued employment with iBio, Inc.

iBio, Inc.

By: /s/ Chip Clark
Name: Chip Clark
Title: Board Chair

Executive Acceptance:

The undersigned hereby accepts and agrees to all the terms and conditions set forth in this Special Incentive Bonus
Agreement knowingly, voluntarily and intending to be legally bound.

/s/ Martin Brenner
Printed Name: Martin Brenner
Title: CSO
Date: January 31, 2023
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ADDENDUM
FOR SIGNATURE NO EARLIER THAN [INSERT VESTING DATE]

Acknowledgement & Re-Execution Of Waiver And Release Of All Claims
Signed By Executive After The Vesting Date

Now that the vesting date has passed, as required above and as a material inducement to the Company to
enter into this Agreement, I am re-executing the Agreement and signing this Addendum knowingly and
voluntarily, specifically to:

(1) acknowledge and agree that the waiver and release of all claims in Paragraph 4 above shall be
extended and effective through and including the date I am signing below;

(2) acknowledge and agree that the waiver and release of all claims in Paragraph 4 extends to all of the
aforementioned claims and potential claims forever and to the fullest extent permissible by law,
whether now known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, and that this constitutes an essential
term of this Addendum. You expressly waive any right or benefit available to you in any capacity
under the provisions of California Civil Code § 1542, which provides as follows:

A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS THAT THE CREDITOR OR
RELEASING PARTY DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT
THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE RELEASE AND THAT, IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER,
WOULD HAVE MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE DEBTOR
OR RELEASED PARTY; and

(3) acknowledge, represent, and agree to, and that I have been notified of and received all of the
protections set forth in, Paragraphs 13-14 above (relating to the Older Workers Benefit Protection
Act), including without limitation being advised to consult with an attorney prior to signing,
receiving at least 21 days to consider signing this Addendum, then having a period of seven days to
revoke this Addendum by providing written notice as set forth in that Paragraph, and not waiving or
releasing any Claims that may arise after the date this Addendum is executed.

Dated:
Martin Brenner
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CERTAIN CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS EXHIBIT MARKED BY [***] HAS BEEN
OMITTED BECAUSE IT IS BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND IS THE TYPE OF INFORMATION THAT THE
REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL

January 26, 2023

VIA [DOCUSIGN]
Felipe Duran
[***]
[***]

Re: Special Incentive Bonus Agreement

Dear Felipe,

As you are aware, iBio, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), is currently in the process of
selling its manufacturing facility and transforming into a biopharmaceutical discovery and development
company solely focused on immune-oncology (the “Transformation”). We are grateful for your dedication and
service to the Company and trust you will provide highly valued assistance in both making this Transformation
a success and in achieving the Company’s 2023 objectives.

Accordingly, the Company is offering you a Special Incentive Bonus in exchange for your agreement to
continue employment with the Company through the earlier of: (a) July 1, 2023, or (b) the successful
achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined by the Board of Directors (“Board”). The Board will
determine in its sole discretion whether and when the 2023 objectives are successfully completed.  The Special
Incentive Bonus shall be payable in addition to any other compensation and benefits to which you may
otherwise be entitled, including any severance benefits under the terms and conditions of any employment
agreement.

This Special Incentive Bonus Agreement (“Agreement”) sets forth the terms and conditions of the
Special Incentive Bonus.

1. Transition Period and Continued Employment.  The term of this Agreement will begin seven
(7) days after your execution and non-revocation of this Agreement and will end on the earlier of: (i) July 1,
2023, or (ii) the successful achievement of the Company’s 2023 objectives, as defined and determined by the
Board (such term being the “Transition Period”).

2. Special Incentive Bonus. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, you will be eligible for a
Special Incentive Bonus equal to 40% of your fiscal year 2023 annualized salary of $350,000.  The Special
Incentive Bonus shall be subject to all applicable federal, state, and local tax withholdings and shall be paid as a
single lump sum on the next regular payroll date following the applicable Transition Period; provided, however,
any retention payment during the fiscal year 2023 paid to you will be credited towards any Special Incentive
Bonus paid pursuant to this Agreement.  
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3. Eligibility.  To receive the Special Incentive Bonus, you must: (i) remain employed by the
Company in good standing through the applicable Transition Period; (ii) remain in compliance with all
obligations in this Agreement; (iii) remain in compliance with all obligations in your Proprietary Information
and Inventions Agreement; and (iv) fully and satisfactorily perform all of your job duties; provided, however,
that if your failure to remain employed with the Company through either Transition Period is a result of the
Company’s termination of your employment without Cause, you will remain eligible for the Special Incentive
Bonus so long as all other conditions herein are fulfilled, as applicable. “Cause” shall have the same meaning as
defined in your offer letter dated January 23, 2023.

4. General Release. In consideration for the Company entering into this Agreement and your
eligibility for the Special Incentive Bonus, you shall and hereby do voluntarily, freely, fully and completely
release, waive and assign to the Company any and all claims that you have ever asserted, or could have
asserted, against the Company or any of its past or current shareholders, affiliates, officers, directors,
employees, agents, attorneys, insurers or representatives (together, the “Other Released Parties”) on or at any
time before your execution of this Agreement; whether sounding in or based upon any contract, tort, statute,
regulation or common law. For the sake of clarity, the released claims include, without limitation, any and all
claims under or based, in whole or in part, upon all oral or written contracts, all documents governing any
Employer-promulgated plan, all written or oral representations or promises, as well as all claims for
compensation, benefits, stock, equity, wrongful discharge, any legal restriction on the Company’s right to
terminate employees, discrimination, accommodation, commissions, minimum wage, overtime pay, breach of
contract, retaliation, torts (including, but not limited to, any and all claims of negligence, negligent hiring,
retention and/or supervision, intentional or negligent invasion of privacy, defamation, compelled defamation,
intentional or negligent infliction of emotional harm, libel, slander, invasion of privacy or violations of public
policy) or violation of any rights arising under any federal, state, or local law, including, without limitation,
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Restoration Act, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act (“ADEA”), the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Older Worker Benefit Protection Act,
the Family and Medical Leave Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, the Equal Pay Act, the Civil Rights Act of
1991, Section 1981 of U.S.C. Title 42, the Fair Credit Reporting Act, the National Labor Relations Act, the
Uniform Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act, the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act,
the Immigration Reform and Control Act, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act, the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief and Economic Security Act, any local, state, or federal law arising from and/or enacted to address the
COVID-19 virus, any claims arising under North Carolina, Texas, or other state laws, including but not limited
to the Retaliatory Employment Discrimination Act (REDA), the North Carolina Persons with Disabilities
Protection Act (PDPA), the Equal Employment Practices Act (EEPA), N.C.G.S. § 95-28.1, N.C.G.S. § 95-
28.1A, N.C.G.S. § 95-28.2, N.C.G.S. § 130A-148(i), N.C.G.S. § 9-32, N.C.G.S. §§ 127A-201 to 127A-203, any
claims arising under the Texas Labor Code that may be legally waived and released including the Texas Payday
Act, the Texas Anti-Retaliation Act, the Texas Whistleblower Act, the Texas Commission on Human Rights Act,
all of their amendments (as applicable), or any analogous state and/or local laws, and any and all claims for
monetary recovery, including past or future lost wages, mental anguish, pain and



Page 3 of 5

suffering, compensatory damages, punitive damages, liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, expenses, costs, and
interest.

The released claims include claims that you know about and those that you may not know about up to and
including the date of the execution of this Agreement.  The released claims specifically include, without
limitation, all claims for attorneys’ fees and costs incurred by you for any reason arising out of or relating to any
matters covered by this Agreement. The only claims not released are any claims that arise under this Agreement,
and those which, as a matter of law, cannot be released by you under any circumstances.  Notwithstanding the
broad scope of the general release of claims above, the released claims are not intended to bar any claims that,
as a matter of law, whether by statute or otherwise, may not be waived, such as claims for workers’
compensation and unemployment compensation benefits, violations of rules of the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission, challenges to the validity of the release under the Age Discrimination in Employment
Act, or unemployment insurance benefits. Nothing in this Agreement is intended to prohibit or interfere with
any administrative proceeding, including any filing of a charge or participation in any administrative
investigation or proceeding by you; provided, however, that you expressly release and waive any right to
recovery of any type, including back pay, front pay, compensatory damages, liquidated or punitive damages,
attorney’s fees, reinstatement, or any other benefit, in any administrative or court action, whether state or
federal, and whether brought by you or on your behalf, related in any way to the matters released herein.
Nothing in this Agreement shall waive or release any rights or claims that you may have under the Dodd-Frank
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.

5. At-Will Status. You acknowledge and agree that you are employed on an at-will basis and that
this Agreement does not contain or constitute a guarantee of employment for any specific period and that, at any
time and for any reason, you may resign or the Company may terminate your employment.

6. Confidentiality.  You agree that you will keep the terms of this Agreement confidential, and will
not, except as required by law, disclose such terms to any person other than your spouse or professional advisors
(who also must keep these terms confidential).

7. Other Agreements. This Agreement does not supersede or replace any other agreement you may
have with the Company, including but not limited to, your Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement,
and any other post-employment obligations outlined in other applicable agreements.

8. Taxes.  The Company may withhold from any amounts payable under this Agreement all taxes
that the Company reasonably determines to be legally required.  However, it is solely your obligation to pay all
required taxes on any amounts provided under this Agreement, regardless of whether withholding is required.

9. Assignment.  The obligation to pay the Special Incentive Bonus is solely that of the Company,
provided that the Company may assign its obligations to any successor entity. You may not assign your right to
receive the Special Incentive Bonus.
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10. Modification.  Any modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective
only if it is in writing signed by the parties.

11. Governing Law; Arbitration.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of
Texas, without regard to conflict of law principles.  The parties mutually agree that any and all claims or
controversies arising out of or relating to your employment, the termination thereof, or otherwise arising
between you and the Company shall, in lieu of a jury or other civil trial, be settled by final and binding
arbitration.  This includes all claims between the parties.  The parties also agree to submit claims to the
arbitrator regarding issues of arbitrability, the validity, scope, and enforceability of this Agreement,
jurisdictional issues, and any other challenges to this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed
to prevent either party’s use of provisional remedies in aid of arbitration from a court of appropriate jurisdiction
including, but not limited to, claims for temporary or preliminary injunctive relief.  The parties consent to the
jurisdiction of the Brazos County Texas courts and if the jurisdictional prerequisites exist, the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Texas for such provisional relief.  Such arbitration shall be conducted
in accordance with the JAMS Employment Arbitration Rules & Procedures.  Any such arbitration will be
conducted in Bryan, Texas.   Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, the administrative costs of the
arbitration (filing fees, cost for the arbitration site, hearing fees, arbitrator’s fee) shall be divided equally
between the parties.  In the event that the applicable rules of JAMS, any express statutory provisions, or
controlling case law conflicts with this allocation and requires the payment of administrative costs of arbitration
by the Company, the administrative costs of arbitration will be paid by the Company.  The parties agree that to
the extent, if any, you may have a non-waivable right to file a claim or charge against the Company (such as
claims for unemployment benefits, workers’ compensation benefits, or charges of discrimination with the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission), this Agreement shall not be intended to waive such a right to file.  If
you or the Company arbitrates a claim against the other, neither you nor the Company shall, without written
consent of the other party, have the right to participate in a class action in court or in arbitration, either as a class
representative or a class member or join or consolidate claims with any other claims asserted by any other
person.  In the event any portion of this Agreement is found to be unenforceable, that portion shall not be
effective and the remainder of the Agreement shall remain effective.

12. Counterparts and Electronic Delivery.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each
of which will be deemed an original. A facsimile, telecopy or other reproduction hereof may be executed by one
or more parties hereto, and an executed copy of this Agreement may be delivered by one or more parties by
facsimile or similar electronic transmission device pursuant to which the signature of or on behalf of such party
can be seen, and such execution and delivery will be considered valid, binding and effective for all purposes.

13. Review Period. You acknowledge that you were given a reasonable period of time of at least
twenty-one (21) days within which to consider and sign this Agreement and, at your option alone, you may sign
prior to the end of that period. You acknowledge that you have been advised to consult with counsel before
executing this Agreement.  You further acknowledge that this Agreement contains a general release of claims
against the Released Parties, and specifically refers to rights and claims under the ADEA.  You acknowledge
that you are not waiving any claims
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that may arise after the effective date of this Agreement, and you are waiving rights or claims only in exchange
for consideration in addition to anything of value to which you are already entitled.  You agree that any
modifications, material or otherwise, made to this Agreement, do not restart or affect in any manner the original
up to twenty-one (21) day consideration period.  You further acknowledge that you understand all of the terms
of the Agreement and their significance, that you knowingly and voluntarily assent to all the terms and
conditions herein, and that you are signing the Agreement voluntarily and of your own free will.

14. Revocation Period.  You will have seven (7) days following the execution of this Agreement to
revoke the terms of this Agreement.  Any such revocation must be dated, submitted in writing to, and received
by Marc Banjak at Marc.Banjak@ibioinc.com within seven (7) calendar days after you sign this Agreement.  If
you revoke this Agreement, it shall be null and void, and the obligations or entitlements of the parties under the
Agreement shall be null, void, and eliminated.  In this event, you shall not be entitled to the Special Incentive
Bonus referenced in Paragraph 2.  You acknowledge and understand that this Agreement does not become
effective until the seven (7) day revocation period has expired.

Should you have further questions or concerns about any of the above, please do not hesitate to contact
me. Please sign letter below to acknowledge your understanding of and acceptance to the terms of this
Agreement.  We look forward to your continued employment with iBio, Inc.

iBio, Inc.

By: /s/ Chip Clark
Name: Chip Clark
Title: Board Chair

Executive Acceptance:

The undersigned hereby accepts and agrees to all the terms and conditions set forth in this Special Incentive
Bonus Agreement knowingly, voluntarily and intending to be legally bound.

/s/ Felipe Duran
Printed Name: Felipe Duran
Title: Interim CFO
Date: January 27, 2023
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Marc Banjak, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2022 (the “report”) of iBio, Inc. (the

“registrant”);
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

 
 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

 
 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

 
 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 14, 2023   
 By: /s/ Marc Banjak
  Name: Marc Banjak
  Title:  General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Felipe Duran, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December 31, 2022 (the “report”) of iBio, Inc. (the
“registrant”);

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
 a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known
to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
 b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed

under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 
 c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

 
 d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):

 
 a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information;
and

 
 b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s

internal control over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 14, 2023   
 By: /s/ Felipe Duran
  Name: Felipe Duran
  Title:  Interim Chief Financial Officer

(Interim Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of iBio, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Marc Banjak, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary (Principal Executive
Officer) of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

Date: February 14, 2023 /s/ Marc Banjak
Marc Banjak
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of iBio, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Felipe Duran, Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of
the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: February 14, 2023 /s/ Felipe Duran
Felipe Duran
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Interim Principal Financial Officer)


